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D.C. PUBLIC SCHOOL 1997 REPAIR PROGRAM
AND FACILITIES MASTER PLAN

FRIDAY, JANUARY 28, 1998

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM AND OVERSIGHT,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 11 a.m., in room
2203, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Thomas M. Davis
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Davis and Norton.

Staff present: Ron Hamm, staff director; Howard Denis, counsel;
Bob Dix and Anne Mack, professional staff members; Ellen Brown,
clerk; and Cedric Hendricks, minority counsel.

Mr. Davis. If we can have the first panel. Good morning and wel-
come. This is our first hearing of the year, the start of a very busy
session. Our experience in this subcommittee over the past 3 years
indiggtses that we will not have a shortage of subjects to address
in 1998.

Today, we are going to be addressing the D.C. public schools with
an emphasis on the repair program and the facilities master plan.

In creating the Control Board, Congress stated in the preamble
of the law that the District of Columbia government fails to provide
its citizens with effective and efficient services in areas such as
education. The conference report spoke of a severe mismanagement
of the District of Columbia public school system and says that a
strong immediate action must be taken to reverse the situation.

It remains the case that nothing is more important to the overall
recovery of the District than to achieve more positive results in
helping students obtain a quality education. While there has been
some progress during the last couple years, I am concerned too
many significant issues remain unresolved.

The efforts of local school officials are very much appreciated, in
fact many of their achievements are remarkable. The new regime
came on board following the Authority’s order on November 15,
1996. They moved into a crisis situation, whose primary character-
istics were turmoil. They had to deal with school closings, a school-
by-school assessment, and an excruciating court case with, I might
add, some very bizarre decisions handed down.

We must remember that while it was always intended that re-
pair work would be done during the summer of 1997, it was never
anticipated that all schools would have to be repaired by the open-
ing day of classes. When the court ruled that no work could be
done when anyone was inside the buildings, the crisis accelerated

(1
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and deepened. And I might add, at my own children’s school out
in Fairfax County, they stayed there while repairs were being done,
and normal operations around this region, as near as I can tell, are
that children are allowed to remain in. So the ruling was bizarre
and I am sure unanticipated.

There were virtually daily court hearings and new buildings were
found to require repairs, and the same people responsible for the
repairs were also responsible for the schoolchildren and for pro-
curement. Throughout this difficult time it was even unclear ex-
actly how much money would be available.

So I recognize that accomplishments were made. But there are,
nevertheless, many troubling issues that need to be addressed and
clarified today. For one thing, the performance audit released by
the Control Board this month indicates the school system believed
it could operate without sufficient rules, and the school system ap-
parently took contradictory positions, seemingly complaining of the
very regulations they themselves imposed.

I am troubled by the audit’s finding that the school system had
no (Frocess with regard to procurement. RFPs were poorly conceived
and then hastily amended, all to no avail. I am particularly con-
cerned because the audit makes it clear that viable options were
available. For example, and I find this very irksome, some have
claimed that the General Services Administration was not utilized
despite explicit congressional authority to employ their expertise.
The consultants could also have been utilized for the duration of
the repair job, and I have not seen any evidence that any of these
options were pursued, '

Perhaps most troubling of all is the audit statement that the
school officials were noncooperative. I don’t understand how this
could be possible in view of the fact that the actions were being
taken by authority of the Control Board itself and that the Control
Board was doing the audit by virtue of the powers vested in it b
Congress. During this hearing, I hope that the Control Board will
advise the subcommittee how they view the situation and what
they intend to do about it. :

In addition to issues of the repair program, I am also concerned
about the facilities’ master plan. Many of my concerns about this
issue and others will be adcﬁ‘essed in the form of guestions to the
witnesses who will be testifying under oath today. Suffice it to say,
I hope we will have a status report of the master plan and what
the next stegs may be. As the master plan was based on an
unaudited school census, I am curious as to whether or not the
master plan is deemed to be final and to what extent Congress
should rely on its findings as we make fiscal decisions.

I have already communicated my grave misgivings about the
“signing bonuses.” While the money to cover the taxes and the bo-
nuses has been rescinded and has been referred to as a mistake,
I remain really shocked by the entire incident.

What has been most disappointing is that this subcommittee has
not been kept sufficiently informed by those who should have need-
ed no encouragement whatsoever to keep us advised. On my part,
I made many sincere efforts to communicate my own views to the
Control Board and to the school system. I have urged repeatedly
that true communication on real issues be forthcoming. But the re-
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sponse has fallen far short of the mark. Not only has this sub-
committee been left out of the loop, but it appears to me that im-
portant information has been deliberately withheld. It is my sin-
cere hope, no, stronger than that, it is my expectation, that mean-
ingful communication with Congress will cease to be a problem. I
remain optimistic that together we can work to continue to build
on the Yrogress that has been made.

I yield to Delegate Norton, the ranking member of the sub-
committee, for an opening statement.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Thomas M. Davis follows:]
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REP. TOM DAVIS
CHAIRMAN, D.C. SUBCOMMITTEE
JANUARY 23, 1998
OPENING STATEMENT

i
:
{

Good morning and welcome. This is our first hearing of the year,
and the start of a very busy Session. Our experience in this
Subcommittee over the past 3 years indicates that we will not have a
shortage of subjects to address in 1998. Today we will be addressing the
D.C. Public Schools, with an emphasis on the Repair Program and the
Facilities Master Plan.

In creating the Control Board, Congress stated in the preamble to
the law that “the District of Columbia government fails to provide its
citizens with effective and efficient services in areas such as education.”
The Conference Report spoke of “severe mismanagement of the District
of Columbia Public Schools System” and says that “strong and
immediate action must be taken to reverse this situation.”

It remains the case that nothing is more important to the overall
recovery of the District than to achieve more positive results in helping
students obtain a quality education. While there has been some progress
during the last couple of years, I am concerned that too many significant
issues remain unresolved.

The efforts of local school officials are very much appreciated. In

1
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fact many of their achievements are remarkable. The new regime came
on board following the Control Board’s Order of November 15, 1996,
They moved into a crisis situation whose primary characteristic was
turmoil. They had to deal with school closings, a school-by-school
assessment, and an excruciating court case.

We must remember that while it was always intended that repair
work would be done during the summer of ‘97, it was never anticipated
that all schools would have to be repaired by the opening day of classes.
When the court ruled that no work could be done when anyone was
inside the buildings, the crisis accelerated and deepened. There were
virtually daily court hearings, and new buildings were found to require
repairs. And the same people responsible for the repairs were also
responsible for the school children and for procurement. Throughout this
difficult time it was even unclear exactly how much money would be
available.

So I recognize the accomplishments that were made. But there are
nevertheless many troubling issues that need to be addressed and
clarified today. For one thing, the Performance Audit released by the
Control Board this month indicates that the school system believed it
could operate without sufficient rules. And the school system apparently
took contradictory positions, seemingly complaining of the very
regulations they had themselves imposed. .

I’'m troubled by the Audit’s finding that the school system had “no
process” with regard to procurement. RFP’s were poorly conceived and
then hastily amended, all to no avail. I am particularly concerned
because the Audit makes it clear that viable options were available. For
example, and I find this very irksome, some have claimed that the
General Services Administration was not utilized, despite explicit
congressional authority to employ their expertise. A consultant could
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also have been utilized for the duration of the repair job. I have not seen
evidence that any of these options were pursued.

Perhaps most troubling of all is the Audit’s statement that the
school officials were “non co-operative.” I don’t understand how this
could be possible in view of the fact that the actions were being taken by
authority of the Control Board itself, and that the Control Board was
doing the audit by virtue of the power vested in it by Congress. During
this hearing I hope that the Control Board will advise the Subcommittee
how they view this situation and what they intend to do about it.

In addition to issues involving the repair program, I am also
concerned about the Facilities Master Plan. Many of my concerns about
this issue and others will be addressed in the form of questions to the
witnesses who will be testifying under oath today. Suffice to say that I
hope we will have a status report on the Master Plan, and what the next
steps may be. As the Master Plan was based on an unaudited school
census, [ am curious as to whether or not the Master Plan is deemed to
be final, and to what extent Congress should rely on its findings as we
make fiscal decisions.

I have already communicated my grave misgivings about the
“signing bonuses”. While the money to cover the taxes on the bonuses
has been rescinded, and referred to as a “mistake”, I remain shocked by
the entire incident.

What has been most disapointing is that this Subcommittee has not
been kept sufficiently informed by those who should have needed no
encouragement whatsoever to keep us advised. On my part, I have made
many sincere efforts to communicate my own views to the Control
Board and to the school system. I have urged repeatedly that true
communication on real issues be forthcoming. But the response has

3
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fallen far short of the mark. Not only has this Subcommittee been left
out of the loop, but it appears to me that important information has been
deliberately withheld. It is my sincere hope-- no, stronger than that-- it is
my expectation that meaningful communication with Congress will
cease to be a problem.

I remain optimistic that together we can continue to build on the
progress that has been made.
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Ms. NORTON. Thank you, Chairman Davis.

I want to thank the chairman for calling this hearing on the D.C.
public schools as part of the subcommittee’s oversight responsibility
and abiding concern about the District’s children and their edu-
cation. The achievement of excellence in education is not only a pri-
ority for District residents, improvement in education is used by
Members of Congress as a bellwether issue for whether the city
itself is improving, and appropriately so. The future of this genera-
tion of schoolchildren is tied to the future: of the city itself.

Today, the two overriding goals for the D.C. public schools are
a delicate balance between steady but rapid improvement on the
one hand and stability and predictability on the other. These some-
times competing goals are both necessary if learning is to occur,
performance of the children and the system is to improve, and the
confidence of parents and residents is to be restored.

A combination of external events and internal problems have
militated against stability and predictability. We can appreciate
that General Becton and General Williams put a priority on fixing
as many roofs as possible because leaking roofs had been a major
cause of school closings before the two new administrators came.
The decrepid D.C. government financial management system and
the chaos caused by congressional rejection of the city’s supple-
mental funding request may have hurt the roof repair effort. So did
the extraordinary rigidity of the judge in the Parents United case,
who failed to use her good offices to facilitate a settlement. How-
ever, the failure to get the roofs finished in time would have been
more easily accepted by the general public if the leadership had
been more flexible in devising a back-up strategy. Instead, like gen-
erals on a battlefield, they marched against the enemy, leaky roofs,
i%noring the fact that it was school closings that had precipitated
the memorable and acute crisis that ultimately brought new lead-
ership to the school system in the first place. There were many op-
tions, including reworking the schedule for replacing roofs, espe-
cially since so many roofs remained to be done. Here is where con-
sultation with those with deeper knowledge of the community, es-
pecially the elected school board, members of the city council, the
Mayor, and parents, would have been useful.

The issue of consultation, of course, raises a problem that has
vexed not only the generals, but also the board of trustees and the
Control Board. Consultation is often messy, even tiresome, but re-
sults are almost always better, and less contentious when decisions
are shared. If leaders insist on full steam ahead in their own tank,
they had best make sure their armor is shatterproof, because all
the complaints will come their way.

The failure to take consultation seriously, of course, has been
most seriously felt in Shook v. District of Columbia Financial Re-
sponsibility and Management Assistance Authority. Although both
the chairman of this subcommittee and I are lawyers with experi-
ence in fending off litigation, our suggestion that would have avoid-
ed a lawsuit altogether spelled out in detail to the Control Board
was not taken seriously. By contrast, after a meeting I had with
the elected school board, its members agreed to delegate their au-
thority under existing D.C. law, and in addition to accept an advi-
sory board. In this instance, it was the elected school board that

1
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showed the greater maturity and willingness to sacrifice power and
the Control Board that took a needless risk that has unnecessarily
reintroduced uncertainty into the conduct of school affairs.

At the same time, I appreciate that the Control Board following
the Shook decision has not plunged ahead unilaterally. The next
steps are by no means clear. There must be a dozen options. We
would hope that the parties would strive for a resolution that en-
sures a seamless transition back to the elected board as planned
by the year 2000, without disruption. Unfortunately, the public has
not heard from the elected school board in months. However, if the
elected board, the board of trustees, and the Control Board engage
in thoughtful and disciplined problem solving, I believe that grad-
ual power sharing can work. Such a transition would have to occur
slowly and incrementally, proceeding from one step to the next,
only as demonstrable success is apparent, because the public will
not tolerate a return to needless quarrels, power trips, and failure
to act.

A reintegration of the elected school board that has four new
members who have never had the opportunity to exercise the au-
thority given them by the voters is essential to assure that the
elected school board is fully prepared to assume its role, as
planned, by the year 2000. However, the necessary transition can-
not begin now unless a structure and an approach is found that
guarantees that there will be no reversion or slow down of the
pro%:‘ess of reform. I urge the parties to begin.

The board of trustees has taken a fair.amount of heat, in part
because of raised expectations and the felt need of parents for im-
mediate change. However, there have been some noteworthy ac-
complishments, among them an education plan already being im-
plemented, and the closing of some schools, without which there
may well have been congressional interference. Gradual power
sharing could help legitimate the board of trustees, which is still
mistrusted by many parents because of the paucity of representa-
tion of the public. I am disappointed, however, that there are ru-
mors that some members of the board of trustees want to be the
board, and the only board, notwithstanding the Shook decision. I
hope that these rumors are untrue. The trustee’s demean their
service if they attach it to such hubris. I hope that the trustees will
act in the spirit of public service that brought them to this thank-
less volunteer work in the first place. No one seeks to displace
them quickly, yet it would be irresponsible not to use the Shook de-
cision as an opportunity for planning and beginning to implement
the inevitable transition to the elected school board that will occur
in just 2 years. Given the difficult decisions that lie ahead, the
trustees might well find that the best thing that could happen now
would be to begin some sharing of the decisionmaking that would
mean that the blame could also be appropriately shared.

All of the relevant subcommittees of the Confress agree that the
Shook decision does not require a legislative solution. Each is clear
that the parties should resolve the matter among themselves. A
legislative solution would take months. Anyone who observed the
long battle surrounding the last appropriation, as well as the ear-
lier supplemental, will realize that we cannot discount the possibil-
ity of congressional provisions that no one in the city would want
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to live with. I certainly want to make my own position unequivo-
cally clear, that I will strongly oppose any effort by the Control
Board or anyone else to come to Congress for a legislative solution.
No one ever promised that running the District, representing the
District, or fixing our public schools would be a rose garden. How-
ever, rebuilding this city and its schools is more than doable if we
all work together, consult before we leap, and are methodical in our
approach.

Again, I want to thank the chairman, and I very much welcome
today’s witnesses.

Mr. DAvis. Ms. Norton, thank you very much.
, [T}ie prepared statement of Hon. Eleanor Holmes Norton fol-
ows:

14
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1 want to thank Chairman Tom Davis for calling this hearing on the D.C. public schools *
as part of this subcommittee’s oversight responsibility and abiding concern about the District's
children and their education. The achi of 1l in education is not only a priority
for District resid Impro in education is used by Members of Congress asa
bellwether issue for whether the city itself is improving, and appropriately so. The future of this
8 ion of school children is tied to the future of the city itself.

Today, the two overriding goals for the D.C. public schools are a delicate bal
between steady and rapid improvement on the one hand and stability and predictability on the
other. These sometimes competing goals are both necessary if learning is to occur, performance
of the children and the sy is to improve, and the confid of p and residents is to be
restored.

A combination of external events and internal problems have militated against stability
and predictability. We can appreciate that General Becton and General Williams put a priority
on fixing as many roofs as possible, because leaky roofs had been a major cause of school
closings before the two new administrators came. The decrepit D.C. government financial
management system and the chaos caused by congressional rejection of the city’s supplemental
funding request may have hurt the roof repair effort. So did the extraordinary rigidity of the
judge in the Parents United case who failed to use her good offices to facilitate a settlement.
However, the failure to get the roofs finished in time would have been more easily accepted by
the general public if the leadership had been more flexible in devising a back-up strategy.
Instead, like generals on a battlefield, they marched against the enemy -- leaky roofs - ignoring

the fact that it was school closings that had precipitated the ble and acute crisis that
ultimately brought new leadership to the school system in the first place. There were many
options, including reworking the schedule for replacing roofs, especially since so many roofs

remained to be done. Here is where consultation with those with deeper knowledge of the
[ ity, especially the elected school board, members of the City Council, the Mayor and
parents, would have been useful.
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The issue of consultation, of course, raises a problem that has vexed not only the generals
but also the Board of Trustees and the control board. Consultation is often messy, even tiresome,
but results are almost always better and less contentious when decisions are shared. If leaders
insist on full steam ahead in their own tank, they had best make sure that their armor is
shatterproof, because all the complaints will come their way.

‘l'he failure to take consultation senously, of course, has been most seriously felt in Shook

ia Financial
Although both the Chairman of this subcommittee and [ are lawyexs wnh experience in fendmg
off litigation, our suggestion that would have avoided a | pelled out in detail to

the control board, was not taken seriously. By contrast, after a meetmg I had with the elected
school board, its bers agreed to delegate their authority under existing D.C. law and, in
addition, to accept an advisory board. In this instance, it was the clected school board that
showed the greater maturity and willingness to sacrifice power and the control board that took a
needless risk that has unecessarily reintroduced uncertainty into the conduct of school affairs. *

At the same time, [ appreciate that the control board, following the Shook decision, has
not plunged ahead unilaterally. The next steps by no means are clear. There mustbe a dozcn
options. We would hope that the parties would strive for a resolution that a
transition back to the elected board as planned by 2000 without disruption. Unfortunately, the
public has not heard from the elected school board in months. However, if the elected board, the
Board of Trustees and the control board engage in thoughtful and disciplined problem solving, I
believe that gradual power sharing can work. Sucha transmon would have to occur slowly,
incrementally proceeding from one step to the next only as d able is ap t,
because the public will not tol a return to needless quarrels, power trips and fmlu:e toact. A
reintegration of the elected school board that has four new members who have never had the
opportunity to exercise the authority given them by the voters is essential to assure that the
elected school board is fully prepared to assume its role as planned by the year 2000. However,
the necessary transition cannot begin now unless a structure and an approach are found that
guarantee that there will be no reversion or slow down of the progress of reform. I urge the
parties to do so.

The Board of Trustees has taken a fair amount of heat, in part, because of raised
expectations and the felt need of parents for rapid change. However, there have been some
noteworthy accomplishments, among them an education plan already being impl d and the
closing of some schools, without which there may well have been congressional interference.
Gradual power sharing could help legitimate the Board of Trustees which is still mistrusted by

many parents because of the paucity of representation of the public.

1 am disappointed, however, that there are rumors that some members of the Board of
Trustees want to be THE board and the only board, notwithstanding the Shook decision. I hope
that these rumors are untrue. The Trustees demean their service if they attach it to such hubris. 1
hope that the Trustees will act in the spirit of public service that brought them to this thankless

2
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volunteer work in the first place. No one secks to displace them quickly. Yet it would be
irresponsible not to use the Shook decision as an opportunity for planning and beginning to
implement the inevitable transition to the elected school board that will occur in just two years.
Given the difficult decisions that lie ahead, the Trustees might well find that the best thing that
could happen now would be to begin some sharing of the decision-making that would mean that
the blame could also be appropriately shared.

All of the relevant subcommittees of the Congress agree that the Shook decision does not .
require a legislative solution. Each is clear that the parties should resolve the matter among

h Ives. A legislative solution could take months. Anyone who observed the long battle
surrounding the Iast appropriation, as well as the earlier supplemental, will realize that we cannot
di the possibility of congressional provisions that no one in the city would want to live

with, I cenmnly want to make my own position unequivocally clear that I will strongly oppose

any effort by the control board or anyone else to come to Congress for a legislative

No one ever promised that running the District, representing the District, or fixing our
public schools would be a rose garden. However, rebuilding this city and its schools is more
than doable if we all work together, consult before we leap, and are methodical in our approach.

1 thank the Chairman and | wel today’s
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Mr. Davis. I will now call our first panel to testify. The panel
consists of Mary Filardo, the director of the 21st Century School
Fund; Mr. William R. Lawson, the Assistant Regional Adminis-
trator in the General Services Administration; and Mr. Jonathan
Miller, Daniel, Mann, Johnson & Mendenhall, who was directly in-
volved in the 1997 repair program.

As you know, it is the policy of the committee that all witnesses
be sworn before they testify, so if you would rise with me and raise
your right hands.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Mr. Davis. I would ask unanimous consent that any written
statements be made part of the permanent record, so if you have
a long written statement that will all be in the permanent record.

We have read all the statements here, so if you could limit your
oral comments to 5 minutes. I have a light here. When the light
turns orange or yellow, you have 1 minute, and when it is red, the
time is up so try to summarize at that point and then we can get
right to the questions.

Let me start with you, Ms. Filardo.

STATEMENTS OF MARY FILARDO, DIRECTOR, 21ST CENTURY
SCHOOL FUND; WILLIAM R. LAWSON, FAIA, ASSISTANT RE-
GIONAL ADMINISTRATOR, PUBLIC BUILDINGS SERVICE,
GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION; AND JONATHAN MIL-
LER, PROJECT MANAGER, DANIEL, MANN, JOHNSON &
MENDENHALL ARCHITECTS

Ms. FiLARDO. Thank you. Good morning. I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to testify this morning.

I am Mary Filardo, the founding director of the 21st Century
School Fund. The 21st Century School Fund is a small nonprofit
organization supported by the Ford Foundation, Annie Casey Foun-
dation, Freddie Mac, and Meyer Foundation.

It is our mission to build the public will and capacity to modern-
ize schools. Our main focus has been the District, but we also are
responsible for working with particularly urban districts in other
parts of the country.

I have a master's degree in public policy. My specialty is public
finance. I am a Truman Scholar from the District of Columbia and
have spent 20 years prior to this work working in managing real
estate and renovation in the private sector, all that time working
on educational reform activities associated with D.C. public schools.
Also in our office is Sarah Woodhead, who is an architect with
m%yems’ experience in school construction.

ile my remarks today about the D.C. public school capital con-
struction program are critical, I believe the District can develop
and learn to manage a high quality, cost-effective capital construc-
tion program. What I would like to do is to summarize my longer
remarks with four points.

One, I would like to make clear what we have found, that we
think the cost of stabilization is highly underestimated and that
the poor management associated with the summer stabilization
program will continue into fiscal year 1998 if there is not signifi-
cant intervention.

18
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Why we think this is so, and some suggestions on what we can
do about it: In terms of the cost of the program, it has been re-
ported from the Cotton report that we paid a $7.2 million premium
for this stabilization program. I estimate it conservatively at $15
million, money which the District can scarcely afford to misappro-
priate.

One of the things that led to this overspending is that the Dis-
trict replaced roofs on 13 schools that were less than 10 years old.
This amounted to $8.9 million on roofs of less than 10 years. The
District also paid, on average for the built up roof—and if I can
take advantage of the visual over here—$19 a square foot. We are
talkin% about only the flat portion of this roof. We only looked at
17 roofs.

In looking at the 17 roofs, all of which had 90 percent or more
of the flat roof replaced, the District paid an average for the base
contract of $19 a square foot. In Prince George’s County, they have
typically been paying to remove the roofs, replace them, an average
of $6 to $8 a square foot. On just these 17 roofs, that represents
a $6 to $7 million overpayment. This is a problem.

Now, you know, we can say that these were incredible situations
that we were working under, and it will be different next time.
There are suggestions, in terms of the fiscal year 1998 budget, to
suggest this will not be the case, that we are heading down the
same path. : :

The school system said it will replace windows in 22 schools this
summer at an average cost of $800,000 a school. The school system
has replaced windows before. In the last 4 years and they did it
at a cost of about $340,000 a school. Even wgen we adjust this for
inflation, we are looking at cost estimates that are 100 percent
higher. The same is true with the boilers.

There may be explanations for these enormously inflated esti-
mates, but with no oversight of the capital program, there have
been no explanations asked.

Why do we continue to have problems in the capital program? I
could have given you testimony similar to this before this adminis-
tration came in. We identified much of it in the preliminary facility
master plan, which we wrote for the Task Force on Education In-
frastructure in 1995.

Why do we continue to be plagued by problems? First of all,
there is still no master plan and adequate capital planning in the
District. We still don’t have credible enrollment numbers. We don’t
have standards on school size and utilization. We don’t have a long-
term education plan that clarifies issues, and we still have not
taken this plan out with the proper technical parameters to the
community for their input. We do not have systems in place, and
the Cotton audit, I think, identified that accurately, and you will
no doubt be hearing more about that.

Third, we don’t have oversight. The board of trustees essentially
took the position that what tie administration would recommend
was OK, they approved the master plan which was inadequate,
they approved a capital plan which had estimates that were out-
landish, and they approved the late initiation of this stabilization
program when the scope was entirely beyond the division of facili-
ties management, for niany reasons which I can explain later.
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The suggestions I have, unfortunately, are not magic and you
have heard them before. We have been saying them for quite a
while, but there is still the work that needs to be done: We need
a shared vision for an equitable system of good quality education
and appropriate schools. We need a master plan that is based on
accurate information and officially adopted standards, and ground-
ed in educational pro%rams and practices and embedded through
communities and neighborhoods. We need the capital plan, which
falls out of the master plan and establishes priority projects within
the context of the budget and political realities of specific commu-
nities, the schools, and the District’s priorities. We need an oper-
ational infrastructure that can manage the information, the plan-
ning, and the implementation of a capital program. We need orga-
nizational structure. We need administrative guidelines, proce-
dures, procurement regulations. These are all the boring pieces to
good government, but unless we have an administration that really
understands that they have to invent these, that they are not there
to be used, we will continue to repeat the mistakes of this year and
of previous years. We need oversight of operations. And finally, we
need stable funding, and I think that this can’t be underestimated.
Without stable funding we will not be able to undertake a more ef-
ficient and comprehensive approach to school modernization. It will
not be possible to manage the program well.

’I;y'pically there has been an u?uand down pattern of funding. You
go from feast to famine and it further perpetuates the notion that
you have to get in there and do it all right away because next year
maybe the money won’t be there. This is an enormous problem and
I think we cannot underestimate its role in this year’s fiasco. With
a stable funding base, we should be able to expand that program
as the District expands its capacity to adequately manage its cap-
ital program. Thank you.

Mr. Davis. Thank you very much. We will have some questions,
with the issues you have raised, but I will give the school system
ample time to respond to those.

Ms. FILARDO. Yes.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Filardo follows:]
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Testimony Before the United States touse ot Representatives
Commiittee on Government Reform and Oversight
Mary Filardo, 21* Century Schaol Fund
JANUARY 23. 1998

1 am the founding director of the 25t Century Schoo! Fund. The 24 Century School Fund is a
small non-profit organization The mission of the 21 Century School Fund is to buiid the public
will and capacity to modemize public schools. The goals of the Fund conceraing school
modernization are first. to cnsure that the facilitics support educational programs, not just housc
children; sccond. that facilities stabilize and enhance neighborhoods and communities: and third.
to develop alternative ways to finance schuol construction through public/private partnerships
The fund is also responsible for providing information and assistance to other urban school
districts on facilities master and capital planning.

1 have a masters degree in public policy, specializing in public finance lam & Truman Schola
trom the District of Columbia and spert 20 ycars managing real estate and renovatiou in the
private sector while active in education reform activities associated with DCPS

The other full time staff incmber of the 21 Century School Fund is Sarah Woodhead  She is a
registered architect with over 15 years of experience working in design and planning, two years
as senior project manager and planner at DCPS and more recently three years as architect at the
School Facilities Branch at the Maryland Department of Education  We arc both residents of the
District of Columbia and have children in the District of Columbia Public Schools.  We have
Leen assisted in our work by a dedicated tcam of pro bono legal, finance, real estate. construction
and information system professionals.

The 21™ Century School Fund served as staff to the 1995 Task Force on Education Infrastructure
tor the 21 Century which prepared the Preliminary Facilities Master Plan 2005. 1n 1997 we
prepared an Alternative Educational Facilities Master Plan 2007. Wc arc supported by the Ford
Foundation. Annic E. Casey Foundation, Meyer Foundation and the Freddie Mac Foundation

While my remarks about DCPS today are critical, | raise them because | believe the District of°
Columhia School System can learn to manage a high quality. cost effective capital construction
program. | also believe that it is essential that the District’s residents insist on good the
government that a well managed school construction program represents. Unless the wider
public demands accountability, cost effectiveness and quality programs, services and systems
Irom our public institutions, no amount of importcd leadership. emergency authority or
management consultants will be able to implement or sustain the changes required to bring these
reforms about

‘I'he District school system does not yet have the capacity to adequately managce a capital
construction program. In fact, we have observed the same fundamentally flawed information.
planning and management functions under this new administration that the Control Board was
supposed to remedy theough its firing of Franklin Smith. demoting of the Board of Education and
bringing in a ncw management team and Board of Trustees
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I'he tollowing are areas that continue to plague 1DCPS.

) Therc is still not an adequate educational fucilitics master plan

2 The recent roofing “cmergency” illustrates a host of laws in the management of the schuol
system’s capital program.

3 Both the FY 1997 and FY 1998 capital programs indicate grossly inflated costs

On the DCP'S liducational Facilities Master Plan.

We're missing

* credible enroliment numbers;

® along-term education plan that clarifies such issues as whether or not DCPS will institute
universal pre-k or middle schools throughout the system;

» adoption of standards on school size and utilization for the current building inventory.

* input from communities on their educational facility needs.

‘The segregation of stabilization, functionality and modernization in the school system’s plan is a
serious problem. The roof, boiler and window replacements undcriaken as par of “stabilization™
result in significant funds being spent in schools. such that it will be unlikely that the District will
return to these buildings to do the important work of bringing the building up to a quality
standard to support education. The State of Maryland, for example refuses to fund these multi-
systemic projects, because when they are done, the schoof systems rarely yo back to address
educational issues.

Without an adequate facilities master plan, we will continue to lurch from crisis to crisis. not

utilize scarce capital resources effectively. and -- most impontantly -- continue to have

inadequate school buildings for our children to learn in.

2. The recent roofing “cmergency” illustrates a host of flaws in the capital management system-
- or. more accurately, reveals that there is no system in place.

* The decision to replace not repair (while lauded by many) was tvo simplistic. DCPS had
replaced roofs at 66 schools in the last ten years, and 13 of these roofs. which no doubt had
leaks. but were less than ten years old were replaced this summer.

® The extremely late initiation of the roofing program, at a scope way beyond the capability ol
the Division of Facilities Management, indicated poor decision making in the administration
and a complete lack of oversight on the part of the Control Board and the Board of Trustees,

® The Cotton audit, which you will no doubt hear much more about, documents that no
systems were put in place for standard contract management or procurement. You may not
remember that in the summer of 1997, two former DCPS contract officers and a contractor
were convicted for taking and giving kick-backs for DCPS facilitics contracts under the
previous administration, in what was a similar environment.

Without a responsible. transparent, system in place, that public cmployees are required to
follow. the District gets less than what it pays for. Contractors, wary of a muddled process are
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scluctant to hid cxcept at higher and higher premiums. The lack of clear decision making and
management procedures creates conditions susceptible to corruption. Whether or not itlegal

activities actually occur, it undermines the public confidence and suppon for the capital
prograin.

Finally,
3 The cost of the FY 1997 roofing program was more than the District could afford.

¢ ‘The $7.2 million premium widely reported from the Cotton Audit is undersiated The GAO is
doing a fiscal audit that will address this directly. However. | estimate the cost overage of’
the summer roofing program at a figure closer to $15 million.

e DCPS determined to replace—not repair roofs. even though their window for timely
completion was inadequate. They spent $8 9 million replacing roofs on 13 schools that had
had roof replacements within the last 9 years. according to DCPS records.

*  DCPS paid, on average. $19 per SF, (before all change orders arc in) to replace built up
roofing. Prince George's County pays on average between $6-$8 per square foot for roof
replacement on their old schools. This diffcrence represents an cxcess cost to the cmergency
roof replacement of $6 to $7 million on only 17 of the roofs replaced this summer

4 For FY1998, there i» reason to think that the approach used for the 1997 roofing program
will be repeated, uniess there is a significant intervention

o The DCPS is estimating that it will spend $18 million to replace windows at 22 schuols, an
average cost of $800,000 per school. During FY199{-FY 1995 when DCPS replaccd
windows in 1§ schools the average cost for design and construction was $339,995. Included
within these 15 schools were Cardozo and Wilson Senior High School 2 of the largest
schools in the system. Even when you adjust for inflation. the DCPS is estimating window
replacements at a rate 100% higher than historic DCPS costs.

o The same is true for their FY 1998 estimates for boiler replacements. The average cost of
boiter replacement in 15 schools completed between FY1991 and FY1995 wus $145,153

DCPS is estimating a cost to the public of an average of $650,000 for boiler replaccment for
FY 1098,

* There inay be explanations for these highly inflated estimates, but with no oversight of the
capital program, no explanations have been asked of DCPS.

I'he District of Columbia can not afford to conduct local government like disaster reliet or a
military emergency. We need to use processes and procedures which are subject to public
scrutiny and oversight. The schools are public buildings and the dollars are public dollars. The
1esources to eliminate the deferred maintenance and to modernize our schools are extremely
scarce and are still grossly inadequate to the task. The millions lost through mismanagement can
never be converted into the healthy, safe, and educational appropriate environments that should
he standard in every school in the District. We can do better.
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Moving Toward an
Exemplary System

A Report on the First Year’s Efforts to
Reform D.C.’s Public Schools

The District of Columbis Public Schools

November 1997
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Facilities Management

o ‘“Buildings are in Disrepair and Underuttlized and a Lack of an overall facilities
plan results in ineffectively targeted facilites funding"”
wt /

o
On February 2871997, DCPS submitted 8 Lofig Range Facilities Master Planto M7 G-
Congress. This plan, which has been revised and updated as conditions have changed,

was the basis for the major capital initiative the Summer of 1997. The Plan will serve as

the basis for all future capital improvement initiatives and provides a vehicle for all

interested parties to participate the formulation of subsequent DCPS long tevm plans.

e “Fire code violations are abundant”

When the Becton Administration arrived in November, the new team inherited over 5,000
fire code violations. By May of 1997, this number had been reduced to 0. Monitoring
and abating fire code violations is a high-priority, ongoing activity to ensure that DC
school children can benefit from a safe and hazard free school environment.

o “Aging buildings serlously hamper the District’s learning environment”

The statement exposes a reality that DCPS continues to confront: the average age of a
DCPS facility is 65 years (some are over 100 years old) and most of these buildings had
not been properly maiatained for many years.. Obviously, the initial focus of the
administration was the stabilization the existing facilities inventory. The Long Range
Facilities Plan lays out a three-phase process— stabilization (to make existing buildings
safe and free of hazards), functionality (to upgrade existing facilities) and modernization
(1o provide a state-of-the-art learning environment). At present DCPS has undertaken the
following to address the crisis in facilities:

Nuamber of Repair/ Number (o be Estimated Cost Completion
Repair Type Replacements Needed | Repaired/Replaced (in millions) Date
in 1998
Roofs 114 47 $19 August
Boilers 72 40 $26 December 5
Chillers 38 38 $20 March '
Windows 112 schoois 22 schools $18 August 98
AMowng Toward an Exemplary Sysiem:” A Report on the First Year's Effons to Reform D C.°s Public Schocis T
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* “Capital funds have historically been poorly managed.”

The chart below illustrates the poor planning and the sporadic expenditure of capital
funds by DCPS past administrations. The chart illustrates that DCPS will spend more
money in 1997 and 1998 ($129.8 million) in capital improvements than it did in the
previous 7 years combined ($129.7 million)

DCPS Capital 8pending 1988-1998
{in Millions)
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1989 1990 o "we " " 1998 199 1997 i)

In order 10 address the problems caused by mismanagement in the past, as well as to
prevent similar situations from arising in the future, the Becton Administration prepared
the Capital Improvement Projects Budget with a detailed, school-by-school list of capital
improvement dollars for the next three years.

A sound plan and reliable team have encouraged Congress, the DC Financial Authority
and other funders to provide record amounts of resources to DCPS. DCPS will continue
10 seek additional funds to address our capital needs from all available sources.

o “The District may have 100 many schools.”

The Becton Administration recognizes that there is a direct link between DCPS®
problems of dilapidated facilities and its problem of excess capacity. By closing the most
dilapidated propetties, DCPS could effectively concentrate capital and operating dollars
on a smaller number of schools.

Moving Toward an Exemplory System. A Report on the First Year's Efforis 1o Rejorm D (. s Publc Senoor. 13
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However, closing schools is a sensitive matter involving many variables. During the
development of the Long Range Facilities Master Plan, DCPS conducted an evaluation of
the instructional space on hand, the current number of students using space and other
criteria. Based on this asscssment and data on file, 18 schools were identified for
potential closure. After careful consideration of all factors surrounding the closing of
schools, the Emergency Educational Board of Trustees voted to close 11 of those schools
on April 28, 1997,

DCPS ha acted to liquidate excess property, generating funds that ¢an be re-invested in
capital improvements to aging facilitics. To date, DCPS has gathered or will gather the
following amounts:

o Sules Closed $400,000

o Sales Pending Sellout $750.000

o Sales Approved Pending Control Board $410,000
Approval

o Sales Approved Pending Legal Review $9.,040,000

and Control Board Approval
o Sales Awaiting Processing $9,000,000

These are the first successful dispositions of excess DCPS buildings in many years and
the first action on an inventory of more than 60 excess properties, many of which have
stocd empty and become eyesores in their communities.

*  “DCPS has never developed a strategic facillties plan that prioritizes the use of its
limited resources. Such a plan must consider educational needs, demographic
characteristics, real estate factors, and building needs.”

The Long Range Facilities Master Plan was issued with § volumes of backup /
documentation data” including demographic data, a Real Estate Disposition Strategy and
both internal and external assessments of building needs.

Atoving Toward on Exemplary System: A Report on the First Yeor's Efforis 1o Reform D.C.'s Public Schools 1= :
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Mr. Davis. All right. Mr. Lawson.

Mr. LAWSON. Mr. Chairman, first of all, thank you for allowing
me the opportunity to be here this morning. I do have a brief open-
ing statement, but for the sake of time, if the chairman would per-
mit, I will enter it for the record and be available for any questions
that you may have.

Mr. Davis. Thank you very much, and your statement is a part
of the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Lawson follows:]
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Good moming Mr. Chairman. My name is William R. Lawson and I am the
Assistant Regional Administrator for the Public Buildings Service of the
National Capital Region at the General Services Administration (GSA).
Thank you for inviting me here today to provide testimony that will assist
with the review and evaluation of the activities associated with the
completion of the repairs of the District of Columbia Public Schools

(DCPS) facilities.

Shortly after General Charles Williams’ appointment, we met with him and
his staff to establish a collaborative understanding of GSA’s potential
support of the DCPS Capital Improvements Program. We agreed that DC
would pay GSA to provide temporary planning, contractual and other
support services while DCPS mobilized its operation.to ultimately handle
the program on their own. The urgent situation they asked us to deal with
initially was to contract on their behalf so that immediate roof repairs to five

schools and replace boilers at six others.
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Ultimately, GSA contracted for and supervised the work for 9 roof
replacements, 6 boiler replacements, 4 boiler replacement designs, one
gymnasium renovation that included a roof replacement as well, and two
structural repair projects. We completed this work using our existing
Federal contracts that were already in place and had been awarded in
accordance with the competitive procurement process. The use of existing
contracts enabled us to expedite the process. By using these contracts, we
were assured reasonable and competitive prices. The projects were also
completed within agreed upon deadlines. We are pleased that we were able
to contribute to the timely completion of needed building repairs to the

schools of the District of Columbia.

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I will be happy to respond to any questions the

Committee may have.
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Mr. Davis. Mr. Miller. '

Mr. MILLER. Thank you. Good morning. Thank you for the oppor-
tunity to speak today. My name is Jonathan Miller. I am an associ-
ate vice president with the architectural and engineering firm of
Daniel, Mann, Johnson & Mendenhall, and I am a registered archi-
tect in both Washington, DC, and Maryland.

I am ap%)earing before this panel in my capacity today as project
manager for the D.C. public schools projects on which we have
worked. My 20 years of design and construction experience in the
Washington, DC, metropolitan area have allowed me to become
well versed in Federal sector projects, including the General Serv-
ices Administration, Department of Treasury and the FBI. I re-
cently served as lead architect for design management for the new
terminal at National Airport.

Daniel, Mann, Johnson & Mendenhall, or DMJM, for sake of
brevity, is a 52-year-old multidisciplined professional services firm.
We have 1,400 employees in 20 offices across the world. We provide
architecture, engineering and construction management services to
a range of public and private sector clients, and we have been serv-
ing the metropolitan Washington community for 43 years. We are
currently providing program management services for the Penta-
gon, the Department of Labor Job Corps centers located across the
Nation, both National and Dulles airports, and the Federal Emer-
gency Management Agency. Unlike these projects, we are not pro-
viding comprehensive program management or construction man-
agement services to D.C. Public Schools. Rather, as I will explain
more fully in a moment, we provide technical advice and field rep-
resentation on numerous tasks.

Our relationship with the D.C. public schools project actually
grew out of an existing relationship with the GSA. DMJM was
awarded an indefinite delivery contract from GSA in 1994, having
competed in a qualifications-based selection. When D.C. Public
Schools first requested assistance from GSA, we were among sev-
eral firms under contract to GSA, all of whom were made available
to D.C. Public Schools. DMJM participated in several early tasks,
which were ultimately for the benefit of the D.C. public schools, but
which were carried out under GSA direction and guidance.

In early summer 1997, GSA delegated tasking authority directly
to D.C. Public Schools, which enabled D.C. schools to utilize the
GSA contract. As the tasks became more challenging, with shorter
and shorter timeframes, some firms were unable or unwilling to re-
spond to D.C. public schools’ emergency needs. DMJM tried to re-
main responsive to the needs throughout the remainder of the 1997
year. We actually provided a number of different services for D.C.
schools during 1997. Our first involvement with the roof replace-
ment program was two tasks performed directly for GSA involving
the design of new roofs and related work for two schools. We also
provided services during construction for these schools throughout
the summer, including review of shop drawings and periodic field
observation.

In June, D.C. schools authorized DMJM, through the GSA con-
tract, to provide the scopes of work for roof replacements at 15
schools. D.C. schools required these scopes within 3 weeks, in order
to allow sufficient time for procurement and construction. DMJM

ERIC 34
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deployed several teams working evenings and weekends to accom-
plish this task.

D.C. Public Schools planned to use these scopes of work as part
of a request for proposals package to procure a design-build con-
tract via competitive bidding. Design-build contracts utilize a single
entity to provide both design and construction services, and can be
employed to shorten the overall duration of a construction project.
The scopes we prepared, therefore, were not a complete design, but
described the design intent and formed the technical component of
the request for proposal package.

DMJM sought to define two key issues for each roof’s scope: One,
the location and extent of the required work; and, two, the quality
level of the installed products. In developing the scopes, we visually
surveyed each roof, reviewing and photographing existing condi-
tions. For each school we prepared a diagrammatic roof plan and
narrative of the required work, a technical specification establish-
ing quality standards for each component and a cost estimate.

Just as we were completing these first 15, D.C. Public Schools re-
quested DMJM to prepare an additional 33 scopes. We again pro-
vided the services within a 3-week timeframe. The challenge for
the remainder of the summer was now clear, replacing approxi-
mately 50 roofs in less than 2 months.

D.C. Public Schools asked DMJM to assist them in monitoring
the construction to verify that construction was in accordance with
the requirements of the design-build contract. We staffed the
project with over 30 people to accomplish the work, many of whom
worked 7 days a week routinely for 2 months. Night work was also
common, particularly because contractors needed cooler tempera-
tures to effectively remove old roofing membranes.

While D.C. Public Schools administered the contractual aspect,
such as directing the contractor and negotiating change orders,
DMJM augmented the D.C. Public Schools field staff by reviewing
proposed design details, providing daily reports on each roof and
monitoring progress.

During the summer, we were also asked by GSA to provide tradi-
tional construction management services on three additional D.C.
schools. Unlike the tasks performed for D.C. Public Schools, DMJM
provided a more traditional range of management services on these
schools, including review of the construction progress with the con-
tractor, issuing field directives and making recommendations on
contractual issues.

We believe our contribution in 1997 has helped to make a dif-
ficult crisis-laden situation better than it otherwise might have
been. Now that emergencies have subsided somewhat, much impor-
tant work remains for D.C. Public Schools to undertake. We look
forward to any future contributions we can make toward bringing
D.C. Public Schools’ facilities up to first-class condition.

With that, I would be happy to answer any questions the com-
mittee may have.

Mr. Davis. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Miller follows:]

(F
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PREPARED TESTIMONY OF JONATHAN MILLER, AIA
Associate Vice President -- Daniel, Mann, Johnson & Mendenhall
BEFORE THE UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM AND OVERSIGHT
SUBCOMMITTEE ON THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
January 23, 1998

Good Moming. My name is Jonathan Miller. I am an Associate Vice President with the
architectural and engineering firm of Daniel, Mann, Johnson, & Mendenhall (DMJM), and am a
registered architect in Washington, DC and Maryland. I am appearing before this panel in my
capacity as the Project Manager for the DC Public Schools project. My 20 years of design and
construction experience in the Washington, DC metropolitan area have allowed me to become well
versed in Federal sector projects, including projects for GSA, Department of the Treasury and the
FBI. I recently served as the Lead Architect for design management for the New Terminal at
National Airport.

DMIM is a 52 year-old, multi-disciplined professional services firm with over 1400
professionals in 20 offices worldwide. We provide architecture, engineering and construction
management services to a range of public and private sector clients, and we have been serving the
metropolitan Washington community for 43 years. We are currently providing program
management services for the Pentagon renovation, Department of Labor Job Corps Centers located
across the nation, National and Dulles Airports, and the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA). Unlike these projects, we are not providing comprehénsive Program Management or
Construction Management services to DC Public Schools. Rather, as I will explain more fully in

a moment, we provide technical advice and field representation on numerous tasks.
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DMIM's relationship with the DC Public Schools project actually grew out of an existing
relationship with the General Services Administration (GSA). DMJM was awarded an indefinite
delivery contract from the GSA in 1994, having competed in a qualifications-based selection. That
contract enabled authorization of Task Orders, utilizing pre-negotiated hourly rates. When DC
Public Schools first requested assistance from GSA, we were among several firms under contract
to GSA, all of whom were made available to DC Public Schools. DMIM participated in several
early tasks which were ultimately for the benefit of DC Public Schools, but which were carried out
under GSA direction and guidance. In early summer 1997, GSA delegated tasking authority directly
to DC Public Schools, enabling DC Public Schools to utilize the GSA contract. As the tasks became
more challenging, with shorter and shorter time frames, some firms were unable or unwilling to
respond to DC Public Schools's emergency needs. DMJM tried to remain responsive to the needs
of DC Public Schools throughout the remainder of the 1997 year.

We actually provided a number of different services for DC Public Schools during 1997. Our
first involvement with the roof replacement program was two tasks performed directly for GSA,
involving design of new roofs and related work for two schools. We also provided services during
construction for these schools throughout the summer, including review of shop drawings, and
periodic field observation.

In June, DC Public Schools authorized DMJM, through the GSA contract, to provide Scopes
of Work for roof replacements at 15 schools. DC Public Schools required these scopes within three
weeks, in order to allow sufficient time for procurement and construction. DMJM deployed several

teams, working evenings and weekends to accomplish the task.
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DC Public Schools planned to use these Scopes of Work as a part of a Request for Proposal
(RFP) package, to procure a design-build contract, via competitive bidding. Design-build contracts
utilize a single entity to provide both design and construction services and can be employed to
shorten the overall duration of a construction project. The Scopes, therefore, were not a complete
design, but described the design intent, and formed the technical component of the RFP. DMJM
sought to define two key items for each roof Scope:

I. the location and extent of the required work; and

2. the quality level of the installed products.

In developing the Scopes, DMJM visually surveyed each roof, reviewing and photographing existing
conditions. For each school, we prepared a diagrammatic roof plan, a narrative of the required work,
a technical specification establishing quality standards for each component, and a cost estimate.

Just as we were completing the first 15 Scopes, DC Public Schools requested DMJM to
prepare an additional 33 Scopes. We again provided these services within a three week time frame.
The challenge for the remainder of the summer was now clear - replacing approximately 50 roofs
in less than two months.

DC Public Schools asked DMJM to assist them in monitoring the construction, to verify that
construction was in accordance with the requirements of the design-build contract. We staffed the
project with over 30 people to accomplish the work, many of whom worked 7 days per week
routinely for the next two months. Night work was also common, particularly because contractors
needed cooler temperatures to effectively remove old roofing membranes. While DC Public Schools

administered the contractual aspects, such as directing the Contractor and negotiating Change
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Orders, DMJM augmented the DC Public Schools field staff, by reviewing proposed design details,
providing daily reports on each roof, and monitoring progress.

During the summer, we were also asked by GSA to provide traditional construction
management services on three additional DC schools. Unlike the tasks performed for DC Public
Schools, DMJM provided a more traditional range of management services on these schools,
including review of the construction progress with the contractor, issuing field directives, and
making recommendations on contractual issues, such as Change Orders, and requests for payment.

We believe our contribution in 1997 has helped to make a difficult, crises-laden situation
better than it might have otherwise been. Now that emergencies have subsided somewhat, much
important work remains for DC Public Schools to undertake. We look forward to any future
contributions we can make towards bringing DC Public Schools facilities up to first-class condition.

Attached is a Stewardship Report we prepared earlier this month, reviewing the events of the
past year, and addressing issues of cost and quality on the overall re-roofing effort. Also attached
is an illustrative sketch, demonstrating some of the complexities typically encountered in renovating
older school buildings; the type that comprise much of the DC Public Schools inventory. ‘

I would be happy to answer any questions the Committee may have at this time.
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January 5, 1998

Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret.)
Chief Operating Officer

Director of Facilities

District of Columbia Public Schools
415 12th Street, NW, Suite 903
Washington, DC 20004

Dear General Williams:

Daniel, Mann, Johnson, & Mendenhall (DMJM) regularly reviews our work on noteworthy projects to
provide what we call a Stewardship Report. We felt that the beginning of 1998 would be an
appropriate time to review the events of the past year and summarize our efforts on behalf of the
District of Columbia Public Schools (DCPS). We are exceptionally proud of the legacy of work
completed in 1997 on behalf of DCPS and trust you share our sense of achievement.

We began work in February with the prioritization study — a three-week compilation and assessment
of existing facilities documentation for all 165 schools including a walk-through sampling of 16
schools. As we worked, we created a data base to identify needs, set priorities, and establish budgets
for the deficiencies throughout the school system, which numbered in the thousands.

Roof repairs emerged as the single most important deficiency requiring immediate attention. We
developed a series of Scopes of Work that outlined the performance requirements and broad
construction methods required to protect 48 of the most critically damaged schools from further
deterioration from leaky or otherwise seriously damaged roofs. These Scopes of Work, including
specifications, formed the technical components of the design/build contracts executed between DCPS
and the numerous General Contractors involved in this past summer’s reroofing efforts. Eventually the
roofing program was expanded from the 48 to encompass 56 schools. Once the roof repairs were
underway, we provided Construction Administration services, including a daily presence, seven days a
week, for each of the 56 roofs.

Although the term “reroofing” is used most frequently to describe the work, it is partially a misnomer.
Certainly the work that was completed in nine weeks by DCPS focused on protection of the building
envelope, primarily the roofs. However, we found extensive related damage, often resulting from the
deteriorated roofs, that required additional repairs far beyond the initial scope of the roofing

15235 Wiksox BOULEVARD, SUITE T100. ARLINGTON, VIRGINIY 22209
17031 BOT-2500 ¢ FAX 17040 R0T. 2599
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Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret.)
January 5, 1998
Page Two

replacement. Substantial flashing replacement, repointing of masonry, and overall stabilization of
adjacent parapets, for example, contributed to a program that grew in size, even as best efforts were
made to control costs.

We believe it is fair to say, however, that the approach taken by DCPS, requiring the contractor to
attend to broader protection of the schools, resulted in long-term savings. The building components
that were repaired should require no more than normal maintenance during their useful 20-year life.
Had DCPS chosen a more literal approach, i.e., the specific replacement of selected roof areas and no
more, then much of the investment in the roofs would have diminished as adjacent damage would have
continued to fuel the deterioration of the recent repairs.

Much public discussion occurred during the summer months, comparing the work to maintenance
. efforts in surrounding counties and questioning whether DCPS paid unacceptable premiums for
procuring such a large amount of work in such a short period of time.

The discussions failed to recognize, however, that the DCPS program was not an ordinary, ongoing
maintenance reroofing program,; it was an emergency repair program. As such, it is not comparable to
reroofing programs (or costs) experienced in the surrounding counties. In addition, the discussions
overlooked a truly long-term benefit to DCPS: the quality of the constructed work.

We can jointly attest that the contractors who completed the roofing efforts under extreme time
constraints met the quality requirements set forth in the Scopes of Work, and the roofing contractor
community itself has acknowledged the quality of the installed roofs.

Finally, the diversity of roof types encountered across the city, and even on a single school, contributed
to the complexity of the repairs and required the use of multiple roofing specialists. Built-up roofs
require different installation skills than clay tile roofs; sheet membrane systems differ from shingle
systems; and metal roofing is yet altogether different.

The contractors were required to mobilize quickly, finalize design, secure necessary permits, secure
the roofing and building materials, and determine a staging and phasing plan, even as they were
demolishing the existing roofs, sometimes finding unforeseen deterioration.

The overall quality and the simple act of completion of the roofs seem to have been lost in the
discussions of cost. Cost control clearly was an issue, though. DCPS was required to competitively bid
work that by its nature carried premium costs: Night and weekend work, occasional loss or theft of
materials, unforeseen conditions, and aging buildings all contributed to the “above norm” costs that
were noted in the bids. Again, what has been overlooked by the media and other observers who seek to
compare DCPS with surrounding counties is that the inventory of DCPS buildings is from a different
era, a time when the simplicity of modem construction and generic roofing systems found on the
schools built from the 1960s to 1980s did not exist. Thus, the contractors were forced to account for
out-of-the-ordinary conditions.

41

O

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:



E

O

38

Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret.)
January 5, 1998
Page Three

In addition to school facilities made safe for students, the emergency repair program generated an
additional benefit that will serve DCPS and the District into the future. DCPS developed and put in
place a process for managing the work even as work progressed, a challenge under normal
circumstances. That DCPS accomplished not only the construction program, but the equally difficult
task of adapting its management structure to address an emergency program, and subsequently
ongoing facilities repairs, deserves note. Consistency of inspections, cooperative and reasoned
assistance from the building code officials, and a single-minded focus on the need to build quality into
the work, all helped to achieve not only the reroofing program, but also the management infrastructure
necessary to address the next construction program.

In this past year in Washington, many noteworthy building programs have come to completion: The
New Terminal at National Airport and the Expansion of Dulles, the MCI Arena, Jack Kent Cooke
Stadium, and the Ronald Reagan Building.Given the schools’ impact on the future of the City’s
residents, children and adults alike, we would count the DC Public Schools among these programs.
Each had a different budget and schedule; each was complex in its own way.

DMIM plays a key role on some of the largest construction programs ongoing in the Washington
metropolitan area. We are proud to have contributed to this program and your success in
accomplishing what few organizations have ever achieved: Emergency repairs delivered well, under
extreme scrutiny and time constraints,

Congratulations.
Sincerely,

DANIEL, MANN, JOHNSON, & MENDENHALL

William D. Hﬁper, I, AIA

Associate Vice President /
Director of Operations

cc: Andrew Brimmer, Chairman, DC Financial Responsibility and Management Assistance
Authority
Bruce McLaury, Chairman, DC Public Schools Board of Trustees
General Julius Becton, Chief Executive Officer, DC Public Schools
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Mr. Davis. Let me get to the questions.

Ms. Filardo, let me ask a couple questions. Do you feel that the
commitment of resources by the various governing authorities
which have jurisdiction regarding the District of Columbia Public
Schools, is adequate to ensure an effective capital group and pro-
grams?

Ms. FiLARDO. There is some discussion about what is the number
for a capital program, and the alternative plan that we developed,
we had it at close to a billion. Certainly we don’t now have on the
horizon the kind of revenue that we need to support that program.

In addition, because of the up-and-down nature of funding for
capital—that is OK, they don’t listen. Because of the up-and-down
nature of the funding for capital projects, it has really been a prob-
lem. We haven’t seen the amounts of money and we haven’t seen
the stability that we need.

Mr. Davis. Do you have any real actual evidence that the public
schools paid too much for the 1997 facility repair program, particu-
larly in view of the extraordinary conditions under which the pro-
gram was both developed and implemented, and considering the re-
quirement to remediate fire code violations?

Ms. FILARDO. It is hard to know how much emergency justifies
how much expenditure. I think that there are some real problems
with the fact that roofs were replaced that didn't need to be re-
placed. We have heard that from contractors who replaced roofs, as
well as seeing that from the capital expenditures from fiscal year
1987 to 1990 and 1990 to 1995.

Mr. Davis. We are going to ask General Williams about that. Do
you have any site survey engineering or any architectural evidence
that any of the roofs replaced as part of the facilities repair pro-
gram in 1997, or any other repair, were not necessary, or were du-
plicative?

Ms. FILARDO. Again, based on the report, and it is all D.C. Public
School data on roofs that have been entirely replaced in 1987,
1988, 1989, and in fact this information is available through their
long-range capital plan, their appendices, you can identify those.

Mr. Davis. Let me ask Mr. Miller a couple questions. In your
judgment, what was the impact, if any, that the activities related
to the court and Judge Christian have on the scope, the time lines,
the cost and delivery of the projects?

Mr. MILLER. I am not sure that I can address the impact from
Judge Christian, but I can certainly address the impact of the
emergency environment under which the program was carried out.
I believe that it certainly resulted in some premium costs. I believe
there are two categories of premium costs.

Mr. Davis. Well, let me ask you this. The judge’s decision that
you could not open the schools until you got these replaced put an
added pressure, did it not, in terms of getting things done in a
much quicker period of time than you might ordinarily have done
if the kids could have stayed in school? Wouldn't that have in-
creased the cost in perhaps a significant manner?

Mr. MILLER. Yes, the construction period and the design period
ag{i I gather the procurement period were all shortened consider-
ably.

ERIC
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Mr. Davis. I am not asking for a dollar figure. It just seemed to
me that when the decision came down, you resolved the issue
quicker, but it was going to take more resources out of the system
to try to do it, particularly because you were shuffling kids back
and forth. Also you had to do this in a much faster period of time,
with increased expenses of busing.

Mr. MILLER. There are some perhaps partially hidden costs in
condensing the construction period as well.

Mr. Davis. I bet they are not hidden. I mean, I am not asking
you, but I think you are probably justified that it probably ran in
the millions of dollars.

Mr. MILLER. I am not prepared to quantify it, but it is certainly
significant.

Mr. Davis. OK. Can you give me your professional assessment of
the repair program implemented by the D.C. Public School System.

Mr. MILLER. Yes. I would first say that I consider it, at least in
terms of strictly accomplishing the work in the amount of time
given, a remarkable achievement.

I believe that perhaps in the inspection of cost and schedule
issues, a very important issue may be overlooked or lost in the
fray, which is that of quality. We feel that the D.C. schools’ roofs
which were replaced were replaced with good quality construction.
And the way in which we helped to accomplish that was to provide
a daily presence on each roof to ascertain that the installed work
conformed with the technical requirements of the contract. Warran-
ties, both a 2-year labor and material warranty and a 20-year war-
ranty from the manufacturer, were required as part of the tech-
nical specifications, and both of those helped to ensure that D.C.
Schools receive a quality product. There was no recovering of roofs
done this summer; there was no Band-aiding or patching. From a
life-cycle cost perspective, the best investment of public funds, we
believe that stripping these roofs down to the substrate and replac-
ing them was merited and provided the best level of quality for
D.C. Schools.

Mr. DaviS. So if there is a criticism here, it is not the fact they
got the job done in a timely manner that is remarkable, but there
are quality controls so that these issues are not revisited. In your
judgment, what the school system achieved there was extraor-
dinary; is that fair to say?

Mr. MILLER. Yes.

Mr. Davis. The extent of the repairs that were necessary to
eliminate the fire code violations in the public school system, can
you give us a view of that?

Mr. MILLER. The extent of repairs was—at least on the roofs that
DMJM was involved with—based on our condition surveys. We
really were not party to the specific fire code violations. We didn’t
see them as they were either cited or recorded.

But let me take this opportunity, if I might, to talk about the
condition survey process. ’%ﬁg’c involved a detailed survey, field sur-
vey, and some sampling, both for hazardous materials, such as as-
bestos, and some roof coring.

In response to some concerns that roofs less than 10 years old
were replaced, let me give you two quick anecdotes. On Randle
Highlands Elementary, the roof was 7 years old, according to
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records. It was an EPDM-type roof. We suspected that there might
be some problems. There was evidence of leaking. We took a core
sample, which removes a cylindrical portion of not only the roof,
but the insulation below it. When we removed the core sample, the
hole that was left behind immediately filled up with water. That
roof was 7 years old.

Mr. Davis. Were there any quality controls or warranties on that
from the construction done 7 years ago?
hMr. MILLER. We were not able to find those records to establish
that.

Mr. Davis. OK.

Mr. MILLER. The second one, if I could quickly go on, was Park
View School, which also had a fairly new roof. The building custo-
dian told our staff on the way up, when we made the first visit,
there shouldn’t be any work required up here, since the roof had
been worked on in the last couple of years. Our staff got up
through the roof scupper, and it appeared in the area they were
looking at like a new roof, but as soon as they walked over that
area and onto the next one, they found a very old roof. So we
weren't sure what the record showed about Park View, but at least
the people living below this believed they had a new roof, when,
in fact, they did not.

Mr. DAvis. Thank you very much.

Mr. Lawson, let me ask you a few questions. You talked on your
own knowledge of the conditions of the District of Columbia Public
School facilities. Do you have an opinion as to what led to these
conditions? Does a fundamental lack of routine maintenance on fa-
cilities affect the useful life as well as the old cost to effectuate the
repairs; is that part of the problem here?

Mr. LAwWsON. No. I think in our work on the schools, that is what
we discovered. On the roofs and the boiler projects that we worked
on, as well as some that we were involved in in reviewing surveys
and assessments that were previously done for the school system,
many of the roofs had exceeded their life expectancy with little or
no apparent maintenance on them. Many of the boilers apparently
had little, if any, preventive maintenance, which could also acceler-
ate the deterioration and shorten the life expectancy. So generally,
I think that we could summarize the condition of the roofs and boil-
ers that we were involved in and as well as those that we provide
technical support for were conditions that resulted from years of ei-
ther disrepair or lack of maintenance.

Mr. Davis. General Williams will have a chance to answer this
later, but it is a question raised by Mrs. Filardo. It seems when you
start comparing roofs here to roofs in other jurisdictions and cost,
that you had to do more extensive work in these cases, the record-
keeping wasn’t good, there weren’t warranties, and that could ac-
count for at least some of the cost differentiation between what you
might encounter in other jurisdictions.

Mr. LAWSON. Well, yes, there are a couple factors you have to
look at in looking at the cost. One you have heard of earlier, the
time to deliver a project or roof work. Roof work is very labor-inten-
sive, it is not typical construction where you can accelerate the
time by sequencing work concurrently, erecting work concurrently.
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hM;. Davis. But the procurement cycle is an important piece of
that?

Mr. LAWSON. Certainly that, to get the highly qualified contrac-
tor, but particularly the work has to be done in such a sequence,
at a certain time, with heavy labor, to get it done. If you are going
to speed up a project, there are not many options in roof work to
speed it up, other than to do double time, triple time, that kind of
shift, which you will pay overtime. You will pay extra costs for ac-
celerating that work.

The other factor that the long-term deterioration influences are
what you would really find in unforeseen conditions. If you were
properly maintaining a roof, one could replace it or repair it with
minimum, let’s say, damage or minimum improvement to the struc-
ture or the membrane that is below a roof. If it deteriorates, you
look at the probability of damage to the insulation, to the basic sur-
faces and to the structure.

Mr. DAviS. So you are repairing more than the roof in this case?

Mr. LAWSON. Yes, sir, and in some cases, we found that condi-
tion.

Mr. Davis. Do you think that GSA or any other organization
could have more effectively, efficiently or expeditiously carried out
such a program as the schools implemented in 1997 in that re-
spect——

Mr. LAwsoN. The simple answer——

Mr. DAvIS [continuing]. And at a lower cost?

Mr. LAWSON. Let me put that at a point in time when we worked
with the school system to help identify and prioritize the emer-
gency work, and the timeframe or turnaround time that was man-
dated to get that work done. I don’t think that, frankly, GSA could
have done a better job than the D.C. Schools did on their own in
carrying out the, I think, 43 roof projects in about a 60-day turn-
around time.

Mr. Davis. How about the cost?

Mr. LAWSON. I don’t know the detailed costs of their projects to
really fully advise you intelligently on that. I could compare it to
some of our cost experiences, and the general numbers that I saw
in the audit report that refer to the possible markup of 30 percent
are comparable to the kind of premiums that I think we have expe-
rienced or that we have seen in the work that we did. On average,
our costs, I think, were around between $11 and $12 a square foot
for the work we did for the schools. Industry standards are around
$8 to $10 a square foot, so that is compared.

Mr. Davis. Let me ask each of the other witnesses if they have
any comment, any other organizations or a different way of doing
it cheaper and getting the same quality.

Ms. FILARDO. I just want to comment that GSA managed the
roofing project at Nalle Elementary School, and that was done for
$266,000, and it averaged out to $8.12 a square foot. And that was
not done as part of the emergency program, but it does indicate
that we have the capacity to do roofs at reasonable prices when not
bidding in July for work to be done by September 1st.

Mr. Davis. I mean, I think you would agree, that is because it
was part of a planned process, it was not an emergency, you got
it at the right end of the procurement cycle.
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b 1\/113 FILARDO. There was already design work. It was not a design
uild.

Mr. LAWSON. And I would agree with that.

Mr. Davis. Mr. Miller, do you have any comment on that?

Mr. MILLER. I would just like to elaborate quickly on the factors
that contribute to the cost, other than the shortened timeframes.
Labor availability is another impact from the shortened timeframe.

Mr. Davis. That is the point in the procurement cycle you are
bidding this, and if you bid it in the middle of a work construction
cycle like the summer, where bids are already out, you have to go
find the workers in addition to the overtime, and that makes it
even more difficult.

Mr. MILLER. You may need to reach further away from your
home jurisdiction. The design-build method of putting these
projects together, plus the bonding requirements, plus some of the
ways in which they were packaged may have necessitated using
general contractors rather than roofing specialty contractors. I
don’t think there was any other option, but that probably drove a
small premium cost in terms of those being typically larger firms
with somewhat larger overhead.

Material availability became a problem in terms of reaching far
away from this jurisdiction in order to get materials for the pro-
gram. Unforeseen conditions was another issue. The building stock
is simply not what it is in Prince George’s or Fairfax or Montgom-
ery County, where there are lots of schools built in the 1960’s and
1970’s; with fairly modern, straightforward, simple roofs.

These are old buildings with lots of hidden and unforeseen condi-
tions. The roofs are quite a bit older, and the hidden damage was
more severe. There is significant nonroof work as a result, and I
think that has to be looked at very carefully when looking at any
kind of cost figures because nonroof costs are easily wrapped in,
and consequently overlooked.

Mr. Davis. What about insurance, theft, those kinds of things?

Mr. MILLER. There is a security issue certainly. Our personnel
were subjected to some criminal incidents. I know some of the con-
tractors were as well. And I think contractors can see that, feel
that, and build it into their costs. ‘

Mr. Davis. Were you acquainted with the windows issue that
was raised?

I can understand why the roof situation would be more expensive
than maybe some of the other jurisdictions. I can understand those
factors. I think you have done a good job in representing it. Were
you acquainted with the windows issue, why that would be so sig-
nificantly more expensive?

Mr. MILLER. DMJM has been working with D.C. schools in the
past few months to finalize those window packages and make them
ready for procurement. I don’t have firsthand knowledge at this
moment about the budgeted costs, but I can certainly research that
and get back to the committee, if that’s of interest.

Mr. Davis. When you get that, we would like to see that. If you
can get that over to us, that would be helpful, because I think you
raise a good point in comparison. We need to at least understand
if the numbers don’t jive with what has happened previously in the
city or in suburban jurisdictions.
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One thing that is pointed out here, though, is that you cannot
take for granted, in dealing with the city, that the job was com-
pleted, a good job was done and warranties were established. And
it looks like that didn’t always happen in the past. Those are
things that you might take for granted in other jurisdictions but
you can’t here.

At a minimum, you have to give the school system credit for
making sure that those kinds of problems are not revisited and it
wasn’t just patching it up, it was substantive work. You can lose
sight of what that cost of wages can be if that had not been done
correctly.

Was the availability of or the access to funding a factor in the
ultimate goal of GSA, or GSA’s involvement in the process, Mr.
Lawson?

Mr. LAWSON. Well, initially we worked out an agreement to carry
out the projects between the schools, the Control Board, ourselves.
We did end up with a funding and a funding authorization process
that was cumbersome to enable us to manage projects, let’s say, as
freely as we would like to have.

On occasion, we did experience delays in which contractor pay-
ments and a few procurements to make up schedules, and we did
have to accelerate—try to accelerate the construction projects. And
it was, bottom line, a challenge to carry out the projects and to
meet the objectives that we had agreed to with the school with the
kinds of processes that we had in place.

I believe it was—back to your question, it was a factor in the
spring, when we were helping to prioritize what became the emer-
gency work and the 40-plus roofs, when we sat down with the
schools and gave them our best plan and schedule under the cir-
cumstances to deliver the work. And, frankly, the scheduling that
we could commit to just could not fit within the timeframes that
the school system was under.

And we mutually agreed that—and there was another factor
that, in the time that we were doing work for the schools, they
were able to mobilize their own resources to manage the program.
And that was the ultimate goal that I think we were all under, and
that is for the GSA to help the school system until they could carry
out their own program.

But at that point, General Williams and our staff and his staff
agreed that it would be in their best interest that they manage
their own program simply because we could not commit to the
timeframes that they were under.

Mr. Davis. The way I understand the funding—and we will let
our future witnesses testify concerning the funding—is you had
about $11,500,000 from carryover funds. You had some Connie Lee
and Sally Mae money kick in, from a settlement of about
$18,250,000 million that was not available until April.

Mr. LAWSON. Correct.

Mr. DAvis. You couldn’t do anything with that until you were
sure it was going to happen. And then it was July before you got
the proceeds from the bond sales. So that would impact the cash-
flow and planning.
aler. LAWSON. I believe that’s the timeframe, but I'm person-

y_

ERIC 49

IToxt Provided by ERI



46

Mr. Davis. That is my understanding.

Also, on September 23rd—this is my last question for the panel.
Then I will yield to Ms. Norton.

On September 23, 1997, you forwarded a letter to General Wil-
liams offering favorable comments relative to the public school re-
pair effort in 1997. Based on what you know-now, do you continue
to have the same opinion about the school system’s school repair
program, and would you share with the subcommittee your candid
assessment of the challenge, the process, and the outcome?

Mr. LAWSON. Yes. Yes, Mr. Chairman, I still feel the same way
that I did in that letter. Just very simply, I thought it was extraor-
dinary that they were able to not just mobilize but to take on a
task of over 40 roof projects and get them done in literally a 60-
day turnaround time. That’s the bottom line.

Mr. Davis. And with good quality.

Mr. LAwWSON. With good quality, that I'm aware of. We weren't
directly involved in the inspection of them, but from what I under-
stand, the quality is certainly good quality.

That’s what it boiled down to. And it relates back to my earlier
point that I feel we couldn’t get it done in that turnaround time,
and, frankly, I was skeptical as to whether they could do it them-
selves, and they did. So I thought it was worthwhile to let them
know that.

Mr. Davis. I think, given the fact that you go into a school,
thinking you have a new roof but it is not a new roof at all, that
you would rather be up here talking about, did we spend few more
dollars than we needed to than we didn’t get the job done and we
may need to revisit this thing, which has aﬁ kinds of other implica-
tions.

Although you testified that every job was done well, we have
warranties in place that should protect the city and evidently that
was not done in the past, Mr. Miller, at least in the case of the one
school you cited where, if it was done, we could not find any record
of any warranties being in place.

Mr. MILLER. We could not find the records.

Mr. Davis. I appreciate your putting this in perspective for us,
and I now yield to my colleague, Ms. Norton.

Ms. NORTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Of course, if the proposition is stated whether or not 40 roofs
could be accomplished in 60 days, the answer is ordained. I think
el\;erybody gives considerable credit to the school system for doing
that.

I was extremely é)erturbed at the judge, who I thought continued
to get plaudits and, in my judgment, didn’t act like a judge, who
should try to get these people to the table and get this things
worked out. While the school system was trying its best to get in
there, I think the legal system worked to our detriment. It was an
unintended effect, and it was an outrageous effect, because every-
body knew that something had to be done quickly, and judges rou-
tinely bring in parties when there are matters at stake that were
not nearly as urgent as this.

So I think people gave the school system credit for trying to go
ahead under those circumstance. So if that is all we are talking
about, is how fast can somebody do 40 roofs in 60 days, then, of
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course, what we have is a heroic effort that deserves a lot of praise,
and they will get that praise from me. I don’t think you can get
people coming and then get them going to say, hey, get it done in
60 days, and, by the way, you have spent too much money getting
it done in 60 days. That strikes me as—that kas a taint of unfair-
ness to it.

The real question is, why did 40 roofs have to be done in 60 days,
not whether or not, if you had 60 days, how many roofs could you
accomplish in 60 days. And the question I have for you is a tougher
question, which is why, Mr. Miller, and why, Mr. Lawson, was, in
your judgment, this work compressed to 60 days so that we are
here talking about a proposition that really shouldn’t have been on
the table in the first place?

Why was not this work, in your judgment—you were there from
the beginning—why was this work not done in the longer time-
frame, the more reasonable timeframe that would conceivably not
have resulted in the payment of premiums and in the other mat-
ters that you have justifiably raised in making your evaluation?

Mr. LaAwsoN. Do you want to do this, John?

Mr. MILLER. You go first.

Mr. LawsoN. I will try to answer it. I can give you really a lim-
ited answer, but I think I would have to defer to the D.C. public
schools to give you a more intelligent answer, because I don’t think
I'm directly privy to all the factors leading up to authorizing and
executing the projects.

Ms. NORTON. When did you begin your work, Mr. Lawson?

Mr. LAWSON. When did I begin it? We started work for the school
a year or so in advance—prior to the emergency.

Ms. NORTON. Was your work finished before school was sched-
uled to open?

Mr. LAWSON. The work we did on the phases, yes, we did, I be-
lieve, for the most part. 'm not absolutely sure of the schedules,
but I think they would have finished before.

Ms. NORTON. In other words, you were assigned a specific num-
ber of schools and your work was done before the scheduled open-
ing of schools?

Mr. LAWSON. Yes.

Ms. NORTON. Mr. Miller, why was the work not begun early
enough so that there was not a last-minute finish-line approach
that caused a premium and other problems to arise?

Mr. LAwsON. Could I interject just one point, Mrs. Norton, that
I think would help? I do generally understand that it was a fund-
ing and budgeting process that may have delayed some of the
starts of the work, but I don’t know the details of that problem or
that process.

But I believe from when we were authorized to work and as work
came to us, it was authorized as soon as—as I understand it from
the school system—as soon as work was funded. And my under-
standin%uils that there was perhaps a delay in the funding process.
I don’t know any more than that, and I think the school system
would have to answer any more detail than that.

Ms. NORTON. Mr. Miller, you were there.

Mr. MILLER. That’s my understanding as well, though I don’t
have firsthand knowledge of the funding availability. But from
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what I read in the press and conversations I had with D.C. schools,
that they did not have funds in place, and we simply took the tasks
when they gave them to us, and that left plenty on our plate.

I might just add quickly that we initially surveyed 48 schools in
2 groups, and not all 48 of those schools were worked on during
the summer. We did find schools where we recommended that only
minor repair work be done. That was generally done by in-house
forces. Those were not part of the 1997 summer programming.

So why 40? Why 40 and why compressed I can't really address,
but I can say we were careful to make sure the ones that did re-
ceive work needed it.

Ms. NORTON. Ms. Filardo, do you have any view on this?

Ms. FILARDO. Yes, I do. Part of what happened before the new
administration came in under facilities, is that there had been no
capital money and the capital staff had been greatly reduced. There
had been a RIF of about 21 people before General Williams came
in.

Also, one of the first things he did was terminate the Service
Master contract. Service Master had been taking over more and
more management responsibility. They were very involved in the
roof door replacements, and they had been involved in the manage-
ment of level two management, which involved a lot of prior formu-
lated repairs.

So within 2 weeks of the new administration there was no Serv-
ice Master; there Lad just been a staff cut right before Franklin
Smith left; there was virtually no capacity in the District of Colum-
bia public schools to manage a capital program; and so there just
wasn’t the time to prepare the scopes of work, the analysis, the in-
formation. It just wasn’t done.

My sense is that the bids went out in July because it just took
that long to get the work done, and it was not the funding, because
they didn’t need the funding until they had—

Ms. NORTON. Whether we are talking funding or the deeper prob-
lems in the delivery system, as it were, that you describe, Ms.
Filardo, I would like your expert opinion, Mr. Lawson and Mr. Mil-
ler, confronted with these problems. After all, General Becton and
General Williams were confronted with these problems; they
weren’'t problems of their making.

Confronted with these problems, facing a late start in doing the
roofs, would not the better professional approach have been to re-
schedule the number of roofs that could be done within the allotted
timeframe rather than press the timeframe, given the matters out-
side of their control that they found?

Ms. FILARDO. Well, I sent a memo to Bruce MacLaury on August
9th of this summer, after it was clear that the school system would
be not able to complete roofs in a timely fashion to open school.
And one of the things I would like to say is, we talked about
schools being closed before; they were closed for 2 days. We were
looking at weeks. I mean, we’re not in the same realm in terms of
the cost educationally to the District of the fire code suit before, but
it was not unfamiliar.

And in this memo, I suggested that there were lots of reasons
that we had these problems: They were old, and they were not
going to go away quickly. But in the meantime, what they needed

02



49

to do was to revise their plan, that they could do some repairs, they
could do the stabilization, which doesn’t necessarily involve going
down to the substrates, it involves stopping the roof from leaking
so that you could get the kids into the schools, and that they could
perhaps manage a more modest program this summer so they
wouldn’t jeopardize the school year.

And that was my recommendation to him August 9th. And I
never got a response from that, and so I—I don’t know. All I can
say is what I had to say.

Mgd ?NORTON. Mr. Lawson, did you have something you wanted
to add?

Mr. LAWSON. One important milestone in this whole sequence
that evolved from the urgent to an emergency situation: In the
spring, when we were prioritizing and planning these 40 roofs, I
believe it was contemplated that the schools at that time would
stay open while the roof repairs were being done. I think that was
the initial plan of the—and the presumption, at least that was
within the project team, as we prioritized the work.

And then, subsequently, the decision was made that the schools
could not stay open. And I think that’s what—it was at that point
that the crisis—it became from an emergency to a crisis, and then
the timeframe——

Ms. NORTON. Of course, that was before school opened. And at
whatever point you find out the work can’t be done and the schools
are going to be closed, you can make a decision to reschedule the
number of roofs that you repair.

Mr. LAWSON. Correct. But I think that occurred in the summer,
midsummer, if 'm not correct. And I know that the initial plan-
ning, back in spring, April-May timeframe, assumed that this work
would be done while the schools were open—that the schools would
remain open while this work was done.

Ms. NORTON. I am only trying to get an answer to—since they
assumed the schools would be open, then you have to assume that
they were ready to open schools the whole time. And so if at some
point you find you can't get the roofs done, then let me ask you,
since I sit on your committee—subcommittee, if this was a Federal
building—and the chairman also sits on your subcommittee—would
you have rescheduled the work at the point when you learned that
you would have to go into a crisis mode and do something analo-
gous to what had to be done here to the school?

Mr. LawsoN. If I were told I could not occupy space? I'm trying
to draw the analogy.

Ms. NORTON. Whatever is the analogy. You would know what it
is better than I do. I am asking you for your professional judgment,
whether——

Mr. LAwsoN. I understand.

Ms. NORTON. Whether—given the circumstances as you know
them here, whether you think the work should have been resched-
uled or should have gone full tank ahead, the way they did? What
is your judgment?

Mr. LAWSON. I think they should have gone with the alternative
of trying to complete the work as quickly as possible as the best
alternative. That is my opinion.

Ms. NORTON. Even if it meant closing the schools?
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Mr. LAWSON. I just don’t know enough about the school inventory
or the alternatives—real estate alternatives available to the school
system to give you an intelligent answer to that question.

Ms. NORTON. I can see that.

Actually, Mr. Lawson, you have done a great deal. You are a
good friend of the District and of mine, and you have done a great
deal to help the District.

I ought to say for the record that from the very beginning, when
London Bridge was falling down worst of all, I called in Mr.
Lawson and asked for his help, and he has been abidingly helpful
throughout, and throughout facing barrier after barrier, when he
could have said, well, Congresswoman, I have tried, but he just
kegt on going.

o I am pulling his leg a little bit, and I think he is helping his
friends a little bit. '

But you have to understand——

Mr. LAwsoN. I understand.

Ms. NORTON [continuing]. That the school system was making
some progress and the closing of the schools was tragic in the sense
that it tended to, for many parents, just wipe off all the good things
that had occurred.

And the reason I go to some lengths to ask these questions is if,
in fact, the way we deal with problems we have had in the past
is, hey, I would do the same thing again, that really does bother
me, because it means we do not learn from the inevitable mistakes
we all make and then try to figure out a way so that the next time
we will do it better. But if we say, hey, under all circumstances I
would have done it this way, it says to me, if this comes up again,
that that is what we can look forward to. That would be trouble-
some to me.

Was GSA asked to assist with more than the 10 buildings you
did, either with roof or below work?

Mr. LAwsON. Well, we were involved in the planning or the
prioritization of planning for the follow-on work; and, yes, we were
gsked to give a proposal or a plan to get some of the follow-on work

one.

Ms. NORTON. Would you have helped during the 60-day period?

Mr. LAwsoN. During the crisis? No. It boiled down to the fact
that we indicated to the schools that we could not accomplish the
work in the timeframe that they——

Ms. NORTON. Well, neither did they. I am trying to find out
whether or not GSA was helpful or could have been helpful with
the 40 roofs that were outstanding and caused the schools to close.

Mr. LAwsoN. We helped with doing the work that Mr. Miller out-
lined in scope development, the planning. That was——

Ms. NORTON. For the 40 roofs?

Mr. LawsoN. Yes. So that was a part of our effort. And we had
certainly full intent or offered to help in doing the actual work.
Just our schedules for doing the work couldn’t meet the mandates
that the school was under, and they had made management deci-
sions to do it on their own.

Ms. NoORTON. You indicated earlier in ¥our testimony that, as
they moved on, you thought they were fully capable of taking on
more and more of the work and of going ahead and doing it them-
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selves. Are you prepared to help the District public schools to do
any more of this roof work?

Mr. LAwWSON. Sure, absolutely. And General Williams and I have
ha}(li ongoing discussions. We did provide technical support to the
schools.

Ms. NORTON. Are you prepared to do any more roofs or boiler
work? Let me be clear.

Mr. LAWSON. Yes, we are.

Ms. NORTON. Have you been asked to?

Mr. LAwsON. No, we haven’t to date. But if we can work out a
plan to do it, and a plan that is a reasonable one to get work done,
sure, we stand ready to help.

Ms. NORTON. As I understand it, there are 40 or more roofs to
do t}}’is year. You have not been asked to help with any of those
roofs?

Mr. LAWSON. Not directly, no. I don’t believe so.

Ms. NORTON. I am simply asking because I want everybody to be
at the ready at the beginning of the year in case we get anywhere
close to the situation we found ourselves in before.

Ms. Filardo, I would like to find out more about your involve-
ment. You say that you have done work not only with the D.C.
public schools but with other big city schools. What other schools?

Ms. FILARDO. We have—part of our job is, we have been doing
public-private development partnership work, and we had a na-
tional conference this summer on public-private development part-
nership.

Ms. NORTON. I am talking this kind of work.

Ms. FILARDO. No, no, we have not provided direct services to
other schools.

Ms. NORTON. How did you become involved with the D.C. public
schools?

Ms. FILARDO. I'm a parent of three children. I'm a District resi-
- dent for 25 years. I have one child that graduated, and actually
started out, obviously, because of my background in facilities, work-
ing with Oyster on the public-private partnership network many
years ago. And Sara, my colleague, worked for 2 years in the school
system, in their Facilities Planning Division, and also for the State
of Maryland in their facilities branch, working with the State and
with a number of counties on planning and school design.

Ms. NORTON. Now, you served on the task force that developed
the preliminary plan.

Ms. FILARDO. The preliminary facility master plan. We were
staff. In 1995——

Ms. NORTON. You were staffed. Were you paid by the D.C. public
schools?

Ms. FILARDO. We were in 1995, yes.

Ms. NORTON. Now, then, you undertook to develop an alternative
process and an alternative plan. Would you explain, having partici-
pated in one plan, what led you to develop your own alternative?

Ms. FILARDO. As I said, we were staff to the preliminary facility
master plan and prepared that in 1995. And at the direction, I
think it was part of the appropriation direction, was to complete
that preliminary plan.
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We had hoped to have been able to do a plan in 1995, but there
were enrollment count problems, there was no education plan,
there was other standards that were missing about school utiliza-
tion, so we made a long series of recommendations on what needed
to be done to do a complete plan, and the school system said, thank
you very much, we’ll finish it.

So we were monitoring this, at the same time working on the
public-private development partnership issues, and, by fall of 1996,
%etting a little nervous, we were a year later and we still didn't

ave the plan.

Congress had given the District until April 1997 to complete this
plan. So we prepared some standards as part of my participation
in Goals 2000, as co-chair of the facilities committee, to begin to
complete some of the work for the foundation for an actual plan.

The school system had also been working on collecting utilization
information and other kinds of data. When the new administration
came in, we went to them immediately and said, whatever we can
do to help you, we will help you. And they said, well, we want to
do it as an internal document, and we said, no, we think you need
us. So they said, well, all right, and stuck us on a task force which
met for about 6 weeks.

In the end, they produced a document with our name on it, in
fact, but which in no way met the standard that we felt was accept-
able. And so we tried to work again with the District from Feb-
ruary 18th, when the draft was submitted to the council, to April
25th, to revise that document. And there were some revisions
made, but basically what came out on April 25th, we found still not
acceptable. So we decided that we should stop trying to get them
to get it right and try to do it ourselves.

Ms. NORTON. Do you have any contact? Are you working with the
school system at all? .

Ms. FILARDO. Yes, actually. Throughout this entire period, we
have been working on the Oyster public-private development part-
nership, and so we have continued contact with them on that.

Ms. NORTON. I am talking about facilities.

Ms. FILARDO. I'm sorry, that is a facility. That is a school con-
tract.

Ms. NORTON. I am talking about the subject matter of this hear-
ing with respect to the overall—

Ms. FILARDO. The plan? No. After we submitted that to them,
and we transmitted to the board of trustees, to everybody, to your
office, in fact, too; and you sent it on to Becton——

Ms. NORTON. Your assessment has been very detailed and very
helpful and very thoroughgoing. The difficulty I have with it has
nothing to do with its professionalism, which I think is outstand-
ing, but with my inability to compare where you say the schools
should be to something. That is to say, everyone agrees with you,
first and foremost, that what they found in place was abominable.
So that when you say they don’t have, and then you go through
dozens of things that could not be clearer, what I don’t have a
sense of is whether or not there has been appropriate improve-
ment.

You see, it is very difficult to judge anybody in the D.C. public
schools based on anything but that, given the state of the beast.
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So that if that is what Dr. Ackerman is trying to do with young-
sters, she has to say not that youngsters in the D.C. public school
system are doing so poorly and must do X, she is irying to show
that they, in fact, have improved over the year, which is really the
only way you can approach a situation when you find people, stu-
dents, or a system in the sorry shape that ours is in.

So what would be most useful to me would be some standard
against which to measure where they have come, where they were,
has there been improvement, improvement in what, rather than
the notion that all of it is terrible, because we understand that, and
we think it is going to be terrible for some time to come. So we can
only know if they are getting us there if we know—have some
benchmarks, however they are framed, to tell us whether there are
steady improvements.

Ms. FILARDO. I think that we have done that, basically. One of
the first things is a master plan that’s based on standards and
credible information, et cetera. We did not get that from this ad-
ministration. We did meet yesterday for the first time since we put
out the alternative plan on master planning, and I think that was
good. But we didn’t see the planning.

So my sense is that, no, it has not gotten better. A lot of what
was missing is process, procedures, plans that were transparent
and that were based on sound information. I don’t think that we
have gotten that in this first 14 months. I think we have lurched
from crisis to crisis, which is what we used to do. And whether it’s
closings or getting out a plan or getting to a hearing or getting
groups done, it has been business as usual.

But I do think that with proper oversight, had it been there by
the board of trustees or the Control Board, that there is at least
a willingness to change things. But what I haven’t found in place,
is the understanding of how to institute systems, the building of a
system.

It’s one thing to follow a system that is there, and to do it well;
it is another thing to create the systems. We haven't created the
systems. Perhaps you will be able to hear from them that they're
developing it. I'm not aware of it.

Ms. NORTON. Well, I appreciate that, because I do think that a
process standard is appropriate. I think you will find that parents
and students will also use a standard of whether or not there is
anything different in the school in which they happen to go. And
I think it really does matter to a student if a roof does not leak.
I think it really does matter to students that there is going to be,
take something out of your jurisdictional area, if there is going to
be a year-round school.

In other words, I think that in judging a school system—and I
couldn’t agree more that process is important, because, frankly,
that is the only way to systematize anything and, therefore, show
improvement. But in all fairness, I think that it was not business
as usual to undertake to do a set number of roofs. It was far from
business as usual.

They failed to accomplish their mission, but there was no work
being done on roofs.
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On oversight? They haven’t done enough oversight. But one of
the reasons that the Board of Education-elected board was criti-

cized is the total absence of oversight.

* Ms. FILARDO. But I would like to take issue. There is sort of a
mythology that there has been no work done in the District of Co-
lumbia Public Schools. There was $100 million spent between fiscal
year 1991 and fiscal year 1995 as part of the capital budget. They
replaced doors, if you remember, which is partly why the schools
were closed before. It was the big issue before roofs. And they were.
They did massive door replacements.

Ms. NORTON. Ms. Filardo, don’t make me sound like an apologist
for the D.C. public schools. I recognize that there was work being
done. After all, the schools had been closed. So of course they were
doing work.

The fact is that when somebody says a major part of your prob-
lem, one that guarantees that schools will be closed, the roofs, so
we're going to do all the roofs, that is the kind of systematic think-
ing that we like to see, and I give them credit for that thinking.
I come up real short with them when their systematic thinking is
so systematic that no matter what they discover as they move to-
ward that goal doesn’t stop them, doesn’t make them rethink,
doesn’t make them reschedule, doesn’t make them understand par-
}:‘icularly that if you close schools, that is really the end of the game
or you.

I don’t criticize your assessment. I do say that, in judging the
school system, that I am willing to grant them that they have cho-
sen an important priority and that they did not accomplish it.

Mr. Lawson, was the GSA ever asked itself to serve in a project
management or oversight role, given your greater experience with
doing massive jobs all around the country and having to get them
done on time or answer to Congress if you don’t?

Mr. LAWSON. Well, yes, we were, on those projects that we ac-
complished on the initial stages. That was, I think, nine roof
projects, roof repairs, and six boiler projects, and the planning—

Ms. NORTON. Well, I ask you—I know about those projects. I ask
you about the project management and oversight role in light of
Ms. Filardo’s testimony. Because she says still you really don't
have a delivery system in place. You know, things are going to get
done maybe, but she says you don’t have it in place.

So what I'm really asking is if you have—if one wanted to make
sure that things occurred, if your system is being put in place, you
try to look for something that might serve the purpose or help the
ﬁurpose while it’s being put in place. I'm really asking whether you

ave been asked to serve in this role while a new system for project
management and oversight of jobs is being developed.

Mr. LAWSON. Not beyond the scope we've previously indicated.

Ms. NORTON. One of the first things that I spoke with you about,
Mr. Lawson, was the procurement system. I saw GSA’s procure-
ment system as something of a magic bullet both for the police de-
partment and for the public schools. And I know that you have at-
tempted to help with procurement, which has been a major prob-
lem in the D.C. government.

I would like to know whether—what role your procurement sys-
tem is playing now, or your procurement work, the use of GSA pro-
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curement facilities is playing in the D.C. public schools or any
other agency at this time.

Mr. LAWSON. Well, we have a range of support that we are pro-
viding the city. We are helping the police department with procure-
ment of, as you indicated, of a number of their services, and in pro-
viding them procurement services until they get their whole oper-
ation up and running on their own. We were providing some ad-
ministrative support to the Superior Courts, D.C. Superior Courts.
Let me think off the top of my head.

M?s NORTON. What did you say you were doing in the school sys-
tem?

Mr. LAWSON. The school system, we actually—there are a couple
of things still ongoing. We do provide operating supplies.

Ms. NORTON. Do you do any procurement work with the school
system?

Mr. LaAwsON. We're not, I don't believe, doing any procurement
work for the facilities side of the school system, but we do provide,
under our Federal supply service, operating supplies for the
schools.

Ms. NORTON. Is it your view that the procurement system is
working for the D.C. Public Schools?

Mr. LAwsON. I really don’t know enough about their procurement
system, but it must be if they have got the work done that they
did get done in the timeframe they got it done.

Ms. NORTON. You are not citing that as an example of a working
procurement system, surely.

Mr. LAwsON. Well, I just don’t know enough.

Ms. NORTON. I mean you also said they didn’t have access to
money and the rest of it, which would seem to implicate the pro-
curement system.

Mr. LAWSON. I really don’t know how well their procurement sys-
tem works.

Ms. NORTON. So you haven't been asked to help develop a state-
of-the-art procurement system within the public schools?

Mr. LAWSON. Within the public schools, no.

Ms. NORTON. How long does it take a job to get in place, if you
do it, on a typical roof job, let’s say, of the comparable size in the
Federal Government?

Mr. LAWSON. Well, what we have available we used in the first
phases with D.C. public schools, as Mr. Miller mentioned. We have
indefinite quantity—what we call indefinite quantity, indefinite de-
livery contracts. That is, we have contractors on board that we can
procure it under competitive process who we can task with work
on an as-needed basis. And we have agreed to unit costs and labor
costs for that work with no particular quantity identified at the
time we contract with them, so we don’t have to go through a labo-
rious procurement process to task them to do the work.

Ms. NORTON. That strikes me as wonderfully efficient. Perhaps
D.C. doesn’t have this yet. Do you believe that that would be an
appropriate system for the D.C. government, much less the D.C.
school system, to put in place?

Mr. LAWSON. I do. And I think that General Williams’ staff does
as well, and we've, I think in our work, worked with them to share
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with them how we make that procurement. I'm not certain where
they stand, but I believe they’re moving in that kind of direction.

Ms. NORTON. But you’re not involved in that?

Mr. LAWSON. Directly, no.

Ms. NORTON. Finally, Mr. Miller, you emphasized that you did
not provide comprehensive management, I think you said, but only
technical assistance, so I don’t understand your role. Who was pro-
viding the comprehensive management, and what do you mean
that you provide only technical assistance?

Mr. MILLER. From project to project the range of services that we
provide can vary. On D.C. schools, let me give a contrasting exam-
%le. We provide facility services for the Job Corps centers for the

epartment of Labor, also arguably an educational function located
across the country, and we’re much more involved in the manage-
ment. We're involved in procurement procedures, we're involved in
schedules, costs.

On D.C. public schools we simply weren’t involved in those
issues. We wrote scopes, we investigated conditions, we developed
technical data, we advised them on technical—advised D.C. schools
on technical issues, and I think I have already hit on the construc-
tion monitoring role that we played. We simply weren’t involved in
:0 g)t of the procurement procedures that I think you are examining

ay.

Ms. NORTON. No, 'm not asking about procurement procedures.
I'm asking about the management of the work.

Again, I refer back to Ms. Filardo’s notion that D.C. hasn’t had
the time, let’s say, to develop the full state-of-the-art comprehen-
sive management system you would expect to be in place if you are
doing something as ambitious as replacing a whole set of roofs in
your system.

You say that f'our job was only technical assistance. You almost
make it sound like on an ad hoc basis. Who was doing the com-
prehensive management?

Mr. MILLER. The short answer is D.C. schools was doing the com-
prehensive management. Let m ive me one moment.

By contrast, what I would call more traditional construction
management that we provided for three GSA projects done for D.C.
schools this summer involved some tasks which we simply didn’t
perform for the majority of our work with the schools directly: Re-
viewing construction progress payments with the contractor, mon-
itoring the schedules, and basically work resolving any kind of
schedule anomalies, issuing field directives directly to the contrac-
tor, making recommendations on contract instruments, such as
change orders.

We were involved in estimating, preparing government estimates
both for the base job and occasionally for change orders. But in
terms of directing the contractor, we didn’t do that. So the project
managers onsite who worked, the D.C. school employees, were the
people most responsible for directing contractors.

If I could——

Ms. NORTON. Yes.

Mr. MILLER [continuing]. Skip back to a comment you made ear-
lier concerning what have we learned and are we going down this
same road again.
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We'’re encouraged from our perspective that, as of today, there
are 20 roof scopes for the fiscal year 1998 program and 12 window
projects which are nearly complete. And by that I mean they will
be complete by the end of this month.

l\gs. NORTON. Is that according to a schedule? Is that on sched-
ule?

Mr. MILLER. I have not seen D.C. schools’ schedule to know
whether it’s on schedule, but I can say it’s 6 months earlier than
where we were last year. So it looks like a substantial abatement
of emergency. .

Ms. NORTON. Mr. Chairman, I don’t have any more questions. I
do want to say this; that as I listen to you, in particular, in com-
paring the experience and the work that the GSA has done, and
the GSA has been very charitable, Mr. Lawson has been very chari-
table and generous, and perhaps that’s appropriate, it does seem
to me that if Ms. Filardo is correct—and perhaps even General
Becton and General Williams would concede that you are largely
correct because, after all, they haven’t been here long enough to
have constructed a new delivery system—if she is correct, I gather
from your testimony that the leadership put themselves in some-
thing of an impossible position by not finding agents who could un-
dertake the comprehensive management, such as the delegation
that occurred to you, Mr. Lawson.

That is to say, if you want to do a set number in a set time and
don’t want to reschedule your work, and that’s what your goal is,
then you have to find a way to get it done in that time. Now, one
way to get it done is not to leave yourself open to attack by saying,
“Im getting it done and I'm going to do it all. And I know I'm
working with a decrepit delivery system, and I'm still going to do
it all.” You say, “Wait a minute, if I am going to do this schedule,
I'm going to find an agent.”

Mr. Miller, in the way you say you worked with the Youth Corps,
or whoever, GSA and its work with the Youth Corps, or Mr.
Lawson, the way in which you worked with the 10 buildings, this
is an alternative if you really want to meet that schedule. If, on
the other hand, you find that the schedule is impossible to meet
and you don’t want to contract with an agent, maybe for reasons—
maybe because you don’t have the money, maybe you insist that
you need to use your own employees for that reason—then it seems
to me that you have to make the decision to reschedule the work.
And it seems to me those were the alternatives open. And I'm de-
riving this entirely from your testimony.

The testimony has been very useful to us in giving us some un-
derstanding of what occurred. T hope that it will prove as useful to
the school system. Thank you very much.

Mr. DAvis. Thank you very much. And let me just say to our
panel, Mr. Miller, thank you very much for the quality assurance
your firm has provided in your testimony here today. Mr. Lawson,
we have had an ongoing relationship with the District. I think Mrs.
Norton has appropriately said you have been a friend of the Dis-
trict. We appreciate your efforts. Ms. Filardo, thank you for being
here raising some questions, giving us some yardsticks to measure
and judge the efficiencies. We will have some of the witnesses tes-
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tify later that will respond to some of these issues. Thank you all
for being here.

Mr. LAwsoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Davis. I would now call our second panel to testify. It will
consist of Dr. Andrew Brimmer, chairman of the Control Board;
and Mr. David Cotton, who is the managing partner of Cotton &
Co., the firm that did the performance audit of the District school
system under contract to the Control Board.

It is the policy of the committee that all witnesses be sworn be-
fore you can testify, so if you would rise and raise your hands.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Mr. Davis. Please be seated. I ask unanimous consent that any
written statements will be part of the permanent record. We would
ask that you try to limit your oral statements to 5 minutes. As you
can see, we have a lot of time for questions, and members of the
committee have read the testimony to date. So we appreciate your
being here. .

Mr. Cotton, you would just identify the people with you so we
can get that on the record?

Mr. CoTTON. Yes, Chairman Davis. I would like to introduce to
my left Mr. Ed Fritts, senior manager with Cotton & Co.

Mr. DAviS. Mr. Fritts, welcome.

Mr. CoTToN. And to his left Mr. Marvin Allmond, managing
partner of Allmond & Co. Allmond & Co. assisted us on the audit.

Mr. Davis. Excellent. Thank you both for being here.

Dr. Brimmer, thank you for being with us once again. You are
a fixture at these hearings, and we appreciate your waiting
through the first panel. Please proceed.

STATEMENTS OF ANDREW BRIMMER, CHAIRMAN, DISTRICT
OF COLUMBIA FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND MANAGE-
MENT ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY; AND DAVID COTTON, COT-
TON & CO., ACCOMPANIED BY ED FRITTS, SENIOR MAN-
AGER; AND MARVIN ALLMOND, MANAGING PARTNER,
ALLMOND & CO

Mr. BRIMMER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, members of
the committee. I appreciate the opportunity to appear before the
subcommittee today to discuss several important issues related to
the public schools.

First, let me say that the Authority takes seriously its respon-
sibility under our statute to improve the lives and the educational
future of the children of the District. The Authority, after intensive
study during the summer of 1996 of the condition of the public
schools and the dwindling opportunities for our children’s effective
education, took action that we believed would improve the condi-
tion of the schools. And we took that action on November 15, 1996.

From the context of today’s discussion, we did two things that
are relevant. We created an emergency transition education board
of trustees and we created the position of executive office of super-
intendent and charged them with implementing far-reaching
changes to improve the system.

Now, one of the most troublesome areas that the Authority found
in its review of the schools was the condition of schools facilities.
It became quickly evident that the ability of the children to learn

62



59

effectively was undermined by their environment, where class-
rooms were not safe, where heating and air conditioned went
unrti:(paired, where many roofs leaked and toilets frequently did not
work.

As you know, the majority of the schools date back to around the
turn of the century. Many have never seen roof repairs or any sig-
nificant modernization made either to comply with applicable
building codes, to provide basic amenities or to protect safety. The
Authority immediately asked the new board of trustees to focus on
the problems of the schools’ facilities.

In establishing the powers and responsibilities of the trustees, we
noted that operating methods in effect at the time were frequently
counterproductive and hampered effective service delivery. The Au-
thority emphasized that schools should be free to adopt policies and
procedures that would promote greater efficiencies while simulta-
neously ensuring responsible stewardship for public funds.

In the course of the schools’ repair program last summer—and I
do want to focus on that directly, Mr. Chairman—the Authority,
along with a number of other agencies, determined that considering
the rapid pace of activities, a review of the program’s operations
and procedures should be conducted. Rather than see a series of
separate reviews instituted, the Authority decided to consolidate
in%uiries and initiate an audit of the program. We initiated that
audit.

I would also note that the Authority initiated the audit as part
of our overall program to improve procurement in the District Gov-
ernment. Procurement reforms remain an important management
goal of the Authority, both in the public schools and throughout the
rest of the government. Therefore, as part of the effort to reform
procurement in the public schools, the Authority sought to audit
the procurement program used for execution of fiscal 1997 capital
contracts. We believe that the findings from the audit will be bene-
ficial to improving not only operations of the schools but the oper-
ations of other District agencies as well.

And as you know, Mr. Chairman, the audit was completed by
Cotton & Co., at the end of December. The audit found a number
of problems related to process, to the process used by the schools
to conduct their procurement operations. On January 13th the Au-
thority released the audit report to the public.

We asked Cotton & Co., to determine the following: Whether the
schools had an effective procurement system in place during fiscal
year 1997 for capital improvement projects. We asked them to de-
termine whether the procurement system met the statutory, regu-
latory and program needs of the schools. The audit concluded that
the schools did not have an effective procurement system in place
an}cli t{lat the system did not meet statutory, regulatory needs of the
schools.

The Authority is concerned about the serious nature and scope
of the audit findings. I want to emphasize that we take these audit
findings very seriously. As a result, the board members met with
Cotton & Co., to review their findings, and we have asked the In-
spector General of the District of Columbia to review the audit
findings and to make any further recommendations as necessary
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for correction and improvement of the schools’ procurement oper-
ation.

Mr. Chairman, you have already had a lot of testimony this
morning on the repair program, and I won’t go into details, but I
would want to say that the program that was undertaken, was un-
dertaken during the summer to correct fire codes. They were under
a great deal of pressure and court mandate to undertake those re-
pairs. And I want to stress that they did that. They carried out
what was, in fact, as has already been mentioned here today, a he-
roic job in a hectic environment. And many of the flaws that turned
up in the audit with respect to controls and procedures have their
origin in that hectic environment in which they were operating on
an emergency basis.

Now, in fiscal 1997, the schools had approximately $50 million
of committed funding for emergency repair programs at a time
when the facility repair needs were estimated to cost $86 million.
This left the schools some $36.8 million short for critical programs
necessary to ensure the elimination of the fire code violations and
to pay for other repairs.

I describe in my testimony the steps we took to try to help the
schools close the funding gap, which included, as the committee
will recall, a request to the Congress for supplemental funds to
cover the needed repairs. The Senate responded favorably and pro-
vided $31 million in its supplemental appropriations, $22.3 million
of which was earmarked for school construction. The House of Rep-
resentatives, however, declined to provide any additional funds so
the supplemental was not approved.

Now, let me pause to say that—and I will refer to the earlier dis-
cussion—I want to pause and say something about the availability
" of funds, when the funds were available, and what impact the lack
of availability had on the ability to put contracts in place and
when, and I will come to that in a minute, if you will permit me,
Mr. Chairman.

So what I want to do now is to stress that I have had a briefing
from the schools’ administration the last couple of days. I focused
on trying to find out what have they done with respect to assuring
that the kinds of problems with respect to policies, procedures and
controls do not arise in the future.

First, we have refocused. We at the Authority have refocused on
our own responsibilities with respect to school construction. The
committee might recall that under the statute the Authority is
charged with the administration of school repair funds. The Au-
thority is charged in another statute with overseeing the school
construction program. We decided to fold into the school adminis-
tration the school facilities authority, and we vested that respon-
sibility in the chief executive officer of the schools. He, in turn, del-
egated that responsibility to a director of schools’ facilities.

We have decided, and I particularly have decided that in the fu-
ture I will pay more attention directly with respect to oversight of
that function. It will remain in the CEO, but there will be closer
monitoring of that function.

In the meantime, the Authority has decided that a number of
crosscutting functions in the city as a whole should report to the
Authority. That responsibility will be delegated to the chief man-
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agement officer. Included in that centralized reporting and over-
sight is procurement.

Now, the schools are in the process of revamping their procure-
ment, including procurement for construction services, to conform
with the guidelines that are being developed for oversight on a city-
wide basis. The schools, of course, have specialized needs, police
have speciali